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PART I.
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

Dorchester Minerals, L.P. is a publicly traded Dedee limited partnership that commenced operationdanuary 31, 2003, upon the
combination of Dorchester Hugoton, Ltd., RepublayBlty Company, L.P. and Spinnaker Royalty Comp&ny, Dorchester Hugoton was a
publicly traded Texas limited partnership, and Rejguand Spinnaker were private Texas limited panghips. Our common units are listed on
the NASDAQ Global Select Market. American Stockrigfer & Trust Company is our registrar and tranafignt and its address and telept
number is 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, NY 11219,008937-5449. Our executive offices are locatedd®330ak Lawn Avenue, Suite 300,
Dallas, Texas, 75219-4541, and our telephone nuislfgd4) 559-0300. We have established an Intemebsite at www.dmlp.nehat
contains the last annual meeting presentation dimét &0 the NASDAQ website. You may obtain all cemt filings free of charge at our
website. We will provide electronic or paper copésur annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly répan Form 10-Q, current reports on Forn
8-K and amendments to those reports filed or flwedsto the Securities and Exchange Commission ("pEE€e of charge upon written requ
at our executive offices. In this report, the téPartnership,” as well as the terms "us," "our,&;%and "its" are sometimes used as abbreviate
references to Dorchester Minerals, L.P. itself ordhester Minerals, L.P. and its related entities.

Our general partner is Dorchester Minerals Managegi®, which is managed by its general partner cBester Minerals Management
LLC. As a result, the Board of Managers of Dorche#inerals Management GP LLC exercises effectou@rol of our Partnership. In this
report, the term "general partner” is used as aneafated reference to Dorchester Minerals Managemi@. Our general partner also controls
and owns, directly and indirectly, all of the pantship interests in Dorchester Minerals OperatiRgaind its general partner. Dorchester
Minerals Operating LP owns working interests arfteoproperties underlying our Net Profits Interé¢ets‘NPIs”), provides day-to-day
operational and administrative services to us andyeneral partner, and is the employer of allaimployees who perform such services. In
report, the term "operating partnership" is usedraabbreviated reference to Dorchester Minerakr&jmg LP.

Our general partner and the operating partnershkipalaware limited partnerships, and the genexehprs of their general partners are
Delaware limited liability companies. These ensitend our Partnership were initially formed in Daber 2001 in connection with the
combination. Our wholly owned subsidiary, Dorchesfiinerals Oklahoma LP and its general partneiGitlahoma entities that acquired our
wholly owned acquisition subsidiary and its gengi@itner by merger on December 31, 2009. On Mai¢l2010, we formed a new subsidii
and it acquired all of the outstanding partnershiprests in Maecenas Minerals LLP, a Texas limiiguility partnership.

Our business may be described as the acquisitwmership and administration of Royalty Propertied &AIPIs. The Royalty Properties
consist of producing and nonproducing mineral, yyaverriding royalty, net profits, and leasehalterests located in 574 counties and
parishes in 25 states. The NPIs represent net@miferriding royalty interests in various propestowned by the operating partnership.

Our partnership agreement requires that we dig&iuarterly an amount equal to all funds that eeeive from the Royalty Properties ¢
the NPIs less certain expenses and reasonableesser

We intend to grow by acquiring additional oil aratural gas properties, subject to the limitatioeasalibed below. The approval of the
holders of a majority of our outstanding commontsiig required for our general partner to causi @Equire or obtain any oil and natural gas
property interest, unless the acquisition is comgletary to our business and is made either:

« in exchange for our limited partner interests, uiahg common units, not exceeding 20% of the commuts outstanding after
issuance; or

« in exchange for cash, if the aggregate cost ofaayisitions made for cash during the twetventh period ending on the first to oc
of the execution of a definitive agreement for #ieguisition or its consummation is no more than 16Pwur aggregate ca
distributions for the four most recent fiscal qeast

Unless otherwise approved by the holders of a ritgjof our common units, in the event that we acejprroperties for a combination of
cash and limited partner interests, including commnits, (i) the cash component of the acquisitionsideration must be equal to or less thar
5% of the aggregate cash distributions made byaumnership for the four most recent quarters @nthé amount of limited partnership
interests, including common units, to be issueslich acquisition, after giving effect to such isse shall not exceed 10% of the common
units outstanding.




Credit Facilities and Financing Plans

We do not have a credit facility in place, nor de anticipate doing so. We do not anticipate inograny debt, other than trade debt
incurred in the ordinary course of our business. gautnership agreement prohibits us from incurimdgbtedness, other than trade payables,
(i) in excess of $50,000 in the aggregate at amgrgtime; or (ii) which would constitute "acquisiti indebtedness" (as defined in Section 514
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amendedjder to avoid unrelated business taxable incfoméderal income tax purposes. We
may finance any growth of our business through itipns of oil and natural gas properties by iaguadditional limited partnership interests
or with cash, subject to the limits described abawe in our partnership agreement.

Under our partnership agreement, we may also femaoic growth through the issuance of additionalrgaship securities, including
options, rights, warrants and appreciation righith wespect to partnership securities from timértee in exchange for the consideration and or
the terms and conditions established by our geparaher in its sole discretion. However, we mayissue limited partnership interests that
would represent over 20% of the outstanding limfiadnership interests immediately after givingeetfto such issuance or that would have
greater rights or powers than our common unitsautlthe approval of the holders of a majority of outstanding common units. Except in
connection with qualifying acquisitions, we do watrently anticipate issuing additional partnerskggurities. We have an effective registra
statement on Form S-4 registering 5,000,000 comumits that may be offered and issued by the Patii@from time to time in connection
with asset acquisitions or other business comlmnatansactions. At present, 2,565,000 units reraaailable.

Regulation

Many aspects of the production, pricing and markgtif crude oil and natural gas are regulated bgrid and state agencies. Legislation
affecting the oil and natural gas industry is untarstant review for amendment or expansion, wfretpuently increases the regulatory bur
on affected members of the industry.

Exploration and production operations are subjge@rious types of regulation at the federal, state local levels. Such regulation
includes:

. permits for the drilling of wells;

. bonding requirements in order to drill or cgie wells;

. the location and number of wells;

. the method of drilling and completing wells;

. the surface use and restoration of propeuges which wells are drilled;

. the plugging and abandonment of wells;

. numerous federal and state safety requiresnent

. environmental requirements;

. property taxes and severance taxes; and

. specific state and federal income tax provisi

Oil and natural gas operations are also subjecatious conservation laws and regulations. Thegelagons govern the size of drilling &
spacing units or proration units and the densityells that may be drilled and the unitization oofing of oil and natural gas properties. In
addition, state conservation laws establish a maxirallowable production from oil and natural gasisve hese state laws also generally
prohibit the venting or flaring of natural gas @amgpose certain requirements regarding the ratghifiproduction. These regulations can limit
the amount of oil and natural gas that the opesatbour properties can produce.

The transportation of natural gas after sale byatpes of our properties is sometimes subject goletion by state authorities. The
interstate transportation of natural gas is sulipétderal governmental regulation, including fdetjon of tariffs and various other matters, by

the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.

Customers and Pricing



The pricing of oil and natural gas sales is prifgatetermined by supply and demand in the markegpénd can fluctuate considerably. As
a royalty owner and non-operator, we have extrefdmeiyed access to timely information, involvemeand operational control over the
volumes of oil and natural gas produced and satdthe terms and conditions on which such volumesrarketed and sold.




Since 2004 the operating partnership has sold ofat natural gas production to a Williams enfiturrently WPX Energy Marketing,
LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of WPX Energy, Inor) a daily market price basis using a yearly auttthat will continue through October
2013. The operating partnership has reviewed atme gas purchasers. We believe that the lossiliibvis or any single customer would not
have a material adverse effect on us due to thiéabildy of alternative purchasers.

Competition

The energy industry in which we compete is subjeahtense competition among many companies, tzotiet and smaller than we are,
many of which have financial and other resourcesigr than we have.

Business Opportunities Agreement

Pursuant to a business opportunities agreementguorour general partner, the general partneuogeneral partner, the owners of the
general partner of our general partner (the “GRi¢&), and, in their individual capacities as offis of the general partner of our general
partner, William Casey McManemin, James E. Raley/HrC. Allen, Jr., we have agreed that, except tithconsent of our general partner,
which it may withhold in its sole discretion, wellwiot engage in any business not permitted bypauwimership agreement, and we will have n
interest or expectancy in any business opportuhaydoes not consist exclusively of the oil antlired gas business within a designated area
that includes portions of Texas County, Oklahoma &tevens County, Kansas. All opportunities thatartside the designated area or are no
oil and natural gas business activities are cabedunced opportunities.

The parties also have agreed that, as long a<tivitias of the general partner, the GP Partiabstheir affiliates or manager designees are
conducted in accordance with specified standardsreorenounced opportunities:

e our general partner, the GP Parties and theitia#8 or the manager designees will not be pratfitom engaging in the oil and
natural gas business or any other business, eweiclif activity is in direct or indirect competitiarith our business activities;

- affiliates of our general partner, the GP Parties their affiliates and the manager designeesnatilhave to offer us any business
opportunity;

« we will have no interest or expectancy in any besgopportunity pursued by affiliates of our gehpaatner, the GP Parties or their
affiliates and the manager designees; and

« we waive any claim that any business opportunitgped by our general partner, the GP Parties ardffdiates and the manager
designees constitutes a corporate opportunitysthatld have been presented to us.

The standards specified in the business opporésnityreement generally provide that the GP Pamidgheir affiliates and manager
designees must conduct their business throughstaefutheir own personnel and assets and not hétluse of any personnel or assets of us
general partner or operating partnership. A mandgsignee or personnel of a company in which afiljasé of our general partner or any GP
Party or their affiliates has an interest or in @ftha manager designee is an owner, director, mangasner or employee (except for our
general partner and its general partner and thesidiaries) is not allowed to usurp a busines®dppity solely for his or her personal benefit,
as opposed to pursuing, for the benefit of the Isépaparty an opportunity in accordance with theceffed standards.

In certain circumstances, if a GP Party or any iglidry thereof, any officer of the general parto€our general partner or any of their
subsidiaries, or a manager of the general partneurogeneral partner that is an affiliate of a Bty signs a binding agreement to purchas
and natural gas interests, excluding oil and nagas working interests, then such party must pat#f prior to the consummation of the
transactions so that we may determine whether tsugithe purchase of the oil and natural gas istedirectly from the seller. If we do not
pursue the purchase of the oil and natural gaseisti® or fail to respond to the purchasing partgtece within the provided time, the
opportunity will also be considered a renouncedoojynity.

In the event any GP Party or one of their subsieiagicquires an oil and natural gas interest, dictyoil and natural gas working interests,
in the designated area, it will offer to sell thé@serests to us within one month of completingdkquisition. This obligation also applies to i
package of oil and natural gas interests, includihgnd natural gas working interests, if at 1€23% of the net acreage of the package is w
the designated area; however, this obligation doégpply to interests purchased in a transactiomhich the procedures described above \
applied and followed by the applicable affiliate.




Operating Hazards and Uninsured Risks

Our operations do not directly involve the openadilorisks and uncertainties associated with dglfior, and the production and
transportation of, oil and natural gas. Howevermay be indirectly affected by the operational siskd uncertainties faced by the operators «
our properties, including the operating partnershipose operations may be materially curtailedayksdl or canceled as a result of numerous
factors, including:

. the presence of unanticipated pressure egutarities in formations;

. accidents;

. title problems;

. weather conditions;

. compliance with governmental requirementst an

. shortages or delays in the delivery of eq@pn

Also, the ability of the operators of our propestte market oil and natural gas production depemdsumerous factors, many of which are
beyond their control, including:

. capacity and availability of oil and natugals systems and pipelines;
. effect of federal and state production aadgportation regulations;

. changes in supply and demand for oil andmaagas; and

. creditworthiness of the purchasers of od aatural gas.

The occurrence of an operational risk or uncenaimat materially impacts the operations of therafm@s of our properties could have a
material adverse effect on the amount that we vedei connection with our interests in productioonfi our properties, which could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condittwnmesult of operations.

In accordance with customary industry practicesyvadntain insurance against some, but not allhefrisks to which our business expa
us. While we believe that we are reasonably insagainst these risks, the occurrence of an uniddoss could have a material adverse effec
on our financial condition or results of operations
Employees

As of February 21, 2013, the operating partnerbhip 19 full-time employees in our Dallas, Texasceffand seven full-time employees in
field locations.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Risks Related to Our Business

Our cash distributions are highly dependent oraoidl natural gas prices, which have historically heery volatile.

Our quarterly cash distributions depend signifigaah the prices realized from the sale of oil andyarticular, natural gas. Historically,
the markets for oil and natural gas have beenil@ktd may continue to be volatile in the futwarious factors that are beyond our control
will affect prices of oil and natural gas, such as:

. the worldwide and domestic supplies of ol aatural gas;

» the ability of the members of the Organization efrBleum Exporting Countries and others to agresntbmaintain oil prices and
production controls;



« political instability or armed conflict in oil-pragting regions;
» the price and level of foreign imports;

« the level of consumer demand;

» the price and availability of alternative fuels;

- the availability of pipeline capacity;

« weather conditions;

» domestic and foreign governmental regulations ardg; and
« the overall economic environment.

Lower oil and natural gas prices may reduce theuarnof oil and natural gas that is economic to paedand may reduce our revenues an
operating income. The volatility of oil and natugals prices reduces the accuracy of estimatedwkfaash distributions to unitholders.




We do not control operations and development oRibialty Properties or the properties underlying tPIs that the operating
partnership does not operate, which could impaetamount of our cash distributions.

As the owner of a fractional undivided mineral oyalty interest, we do not control the developnaithe Royalty or NPI properties or t
volumes of oil and natural gas produced from thana, our ability to influence development of nonproidg properties is severely limited.
Also, since one of our stated business objectwés avoid the generation of unrelated businesablexncome, we are prohibited from
participation in the development of our propertissa working interest or other expem@aring owner. The decision to explore or devehes¢
properties, including infill drilling, exploratioof horizons deeper or shallower than the currgmthducing intervals, and application of
enhanced recovery techniques will be made by tleeadpr and other working interest owners of eadperty (including our lessees) and may
be influenced by factors beyond our control, inahgdout not limited to oil and natural gas pricie¢erest rates, budgetary considerations and
general industry and economic conditions.

Our unitholders are not able to influence or cdrttie operation or future development of the prépsrunderlying the NPIs. The operat
partnership is unable to influence significantlg thperations or future development of properties thdoes not operate. The operating
partnership and the other current operators optbperties underlying the NPIs are under no ohligato continue operating the underlying
properties. The operating partnership can sellcdrlye properties underlying the NPIs that it opesaand relinquish the ability to control or
influence operations. Any such sale or transfertrals® simultaneously include the NPIs at a cowadmg price. Our unitholders do not have
the right to replace an operator.

Our lease bonus revenue depends in significantqathe actions of third parties, which are outsadeur control.

Significant portions of the Royalty Properties ardeased mineral interests. With limited exceptjams have the right to grant leases of
these interests to third parties. We anticipateiwdog cash payments as bonus consideration fottiggaithese leases in most instances. Our
ability to influence third parties' decisions tacbee our lessees with respect to these nonprodpecapgrties is severely limited, and those
decisions may be influenced by factors beyond outrol, including but not limited to oil and natugas prices, interest rates, budgetary
considerations and general industry and econonmditions.

The operating partnership may transfer or abandoopprties that are subject to the NPIs.

Our general partner, through the operating partmgrsnay at any time transfer all or part of thegarties underlying the NPIs. Our
unitholders are not entitled to vote on any trandfewever, any such transfer must also simultasiganclude the NPIs at a corresponding
price.

The operating partnership or any transferee magddraany well or property if it reasonably belietieat the well or property can no
longer produce in commercially economic quantitigdss could result in termination of the NPIs relgtto the abandoned well.

Cash distributions are affected by production atiteo costs, some of which are outside of our cdntro

The cash available for distribution that comes fimum royalty and mineral interests, including thiell is directly affected by increases in
production costs and other costs. Some of thess aos outside of our control, including costsegulatory compliance and severance and
other similar taxes. Other expenditures are didthtebusiness necessity, such as drilling additiosedls in response to the drilling activity of
others.

Our oil and natural gas reserves and the underlypngperties are depleting assets, and there aréditions on our ability to replace the

Our revenues and distributions depend in largegrathe quantity of oil and natural gas producedifproperties in which we hold an
interest. Over time, all of our producing oil aratural gas properties will experience declinesrodpction due to depletion of their oil and
natural gas reservoirs, with the rates of declisgying by property. Replacement of reserves to taairproduction levels requires maintena
development or exploration projects on existingperties, or the acquisition of additional propestie

The timing and size of maintenance, developmeeiploration projects will depend on the market @siof oil and natural gas and on
other factors beyond our control. Many of the decis regarding implementation of such projectsluding drilling or exploration on any
unleased and undeveloped acreage, will be madeifoyptarties. In addition, development possibifitiey the operating partnership in the
Hugoton field are limited by the developed naturéhat field and by regulatory restrictions.

Our ability to increase reserves through futureuggitions is limited by restrictions on our usecakh and limited partnership interests for
acquisitions and by our general partner's obligetiiouse all reasonable efforts such as NPIs taavwelated business taxable income. In
addition, the ability of affiliates of our genegartner to pursue business opportunities for thin accounts without tendering them to us in



certain circumstances may reduce the acquisitioesepted to us for consideration.




Drilling activities on our properties may not beqgaluctive, which could have an adverse effect amrdéutesults of operations and financial
condition.

The operating partnership may undertake drillintivéaes in limited circumstances on the propertieslerlying the NPIs, and third parties
may undertake drilling activities on our other pedjes. Any increases in our reserves will comenfguch drilling activities or from
acquisitions.

Drilling involves a wide variety of risks, includinthe risk that no commercially productive oil @tural gas reservoirs will be encounte
The cost of drilling, completing and operating wad often uncertain, and drilling operations maydelayed or canceled as a result of a varie
of factors, including:

. pressure or irregularities in formations;

. equipment failures or accidents;

. unexpected drilling conditions;

. shortages or delays in the delivery of emépt;
. adverse weather conditions; and

. disputes with drill-site owners.

Future drilling activities on our properties mayt be successful. If these activities are unsucogdsis failure could have an adverse
effect on our future results of operations androial condition. In addition, under the terms df tiPIs, the costs of unsuccessful future
drilling on the working interest properties thag aubject to the NPIs will reduce amounts payablestunder the NPIs by 96.97% of these
costs.

Our ability to identify and capitalize on acquisttis is limited by contractual provisions and substd competition.

Our partnership agreement limits our ability to@og| oil and natural gas properties in the futesgecially for consideration other than
limited partnership interests. Because of the Atiohs on our use of cash for acquisitions andwrability to accumulate cash for acquisition
purposes, we may be required to attempt to effamtiaitions with our limited partnership interestmwever, sellers of properties we would
like to acquire may be unwilling to take our lindtpartnership interests in exchange for properties.

Our partnership agreement obligates our generaigrato use all reasonable efforts to avoid gemagatnrelated business taxable income.
Accordingly, to acquire working interests we wohlave to arrange for them to be converted into édieg royalty interests, net profits
interests, or another type of interest that doégyanerate unrelated business taxable income. Phiribs may be less likely to deal with us
than with a purchaser to which such a conditionldioot apply. These restrictions could preventragfpursuing or completing business
opportunities that might benefit us and our unitleo$, particularly unitholders who are not tax-egemvestors.

The duty of affiliates of our general partner tegent acquisition opportunities to our Partnerghlpnited, pursuant to the terms of the
business opportunities agreement. Accordingly,rmssi opportunities that could potentially be puldue us might not necessarily come to out
attention, which could limit our ability to pursaebusiness strategy of acquiring oil and naturalgaperties.

We compete with other companies and producersciquisitions of oil and natural gas interests. Mahthese competitors have
substantially greater financial and other resouticas we do.

Any future acquisitions will involve risks that édadversely affect our business, which our unidkod generally will not have the
opportunity to evaluate.

Our current strategy contemplates that we may dhoaugh acquisitions. We expect to participateigtdssions relating to potential
acquisition and investment opportunities. If we siammate any additional acquisitions, our capitibzeand results of operations may change
significantly, and our unitholders will not haveetbpportunity to evaluate the economic, financm ather relevant information that we will
consider in connection with the acquisition, unlggsterms of the acquisition require approval wf anitholders. Additionally, our unitholders
will bear 100% of the dilution from issuing new caron units while receiving essentially 96% of thedfi as 4% of the benefit goes to our
general partner.

Acquisitions and business expansions involve numeerizks, including assimilation difficulties, unfdiarity with new assets or new
geographic areas and the diversion of managensgteigtion from other business concerns. In additiom success of any acquisition will
depend on a number of factors, including the ghititestimate accurately the recoverable volumessdrves, rates of future production and
future net revenues attributable to reserves amdgess possible environmental liabilities. Ourerg\and analysis of properties prior to any
acquisition will be subject to uncertainties anohsistent with industry practice, may be limiteds@ope. We may not be able to successfully
integrate any oil and natural gas properties tf@aaguire into our operations, or we may not aehesired profitability objectives.






A natural disaster or catastrophe could damage mgs, gathering systems and other facilities #etvice our properties, which could
substantially limit our operations and adverselfeaf our cash flow.

If gathering systems, pipelines or other facilitieat serve our properties are damaged by anyalatisaster, accident, catastrophe or othe
event, our income could be significantly interrupt&ny event that interrupts the production, gatigeor transportation of our oil and natural
gas, or which causes us to share in significantedipures not covered by insurance, could adveisghact the market price of our limited
partnership units and the amount of cash avail@ioldistribution to our unitholders. We do not gabusiness interruption insurance.

A significant portion of the properties subjecthe NPIs are geographically concentrated, whichld@mause net proceeds payable under
the NPIs to be impacted by regional events.

A significant portion of the properties subjecthe NPIs are natural gas properties located itiingoton field in Oklahoma and Kansas.
Because of this geographic concentration, any regievents, including natural disasters that inrsgeasts, reduce availability of equipment ol
supplies, reduce demand or limit production mayaotghe net proceeds payable under the NPIs mareittthe properties were more
geographically diversified.

The number of prospective natural gas purchasersremthods of delivery are considerably less thanlevotherwise exist from a more
geographically diverse group of properties. Assallte natural gas sales after gathering and corsjore$end to be sold to one buyer in each
state, thereby increasing credit risk.

Under the terms of the NPIs, much of the econoisiicaf the underlying properties is passed alongso

Under the terms of the NPIs, virtually all costattiay be incurred in connection with the propsrtiecluding overhead costs that are not
subject to an annual reimbursement limit, are destbias production costs or excess production aoskstermining amounts payable to us.
Therefore, to the extent of the revenues from treldned properties, we bear 96.97% of the codtseovorking interest properties. If costs
exceed revenues, we do not receive any payments timel NPIs. However, except as described belowareaot required to pay any excess
costs.

The terms of the NPIs provide for excess costsdhahot be charged currently because they excaeehtuevenues to be accumulated
charged in future periods, which could result imosreceiving any payments under the NPIs untp@br uncharged costs have been
recovered by the operating partnership.

Damages associated with the production and gatlyesinour oil and natural gas properties could affear cash flow.

The operating partnership owns and operates gatheyistems and compression facilities. Casualselosr damages from these
operations would be production costs under thegerhthe NPIs and could adversely affect our ctsh. f

We may indirectly experience costs from repaireplacement of aging equipment.

Some of the operating partnership's current workitgrest wells were drilled and have been produsince prior to 1954. The 132-mile
Oklahoma gas pipeline gathering system was orilyiiatalled in or about 1948 and because of itsiagn need of periodic repairs and
upgrades. Should major components of this systeuinesignificant repairs or replacement, the ofeggpartnership may incur substantial
capital expenditures in the operation of the Okiaa@roperties, which, as production costs, woutldice our cash flow from these properties.

Our cash flow is subject to operating hazards anfbreseen interruptions for which we may not by finlsured.

Neither we nor the operating partnership are fuigured against certain risks, either because imistiiance is not available or because of
high premium costs. Operations that affect the @riigs are subject to all of the risks normallyident to the oil and natural gas business,
including blowouts, cratering, explosions and pidin and other environmental damage, any of whali@result in substantial decreases in
the cash flow from our royalty interests and otinggrests due to injury or loss of life, damagetalestruction of wells, production facilities or
other property, cleanp responsibilities, regulatory investigations gedalties and suspension of operations. Any unéusoosts relating to t
properties underlying the NPIs will be deducteé g@soduction cost in calculating the net procee@ple to us.

Governmental policies, laws and regulations coudsidhan adverse impact on our business and castibdisons.

Our business and the properties in which we hdkté@sts are subject to federal, state and local &wd regulations relating to the oil and
natural gas industry as well as regulations rejatiinsafety matters. These laws and regulationdiasa a significant impact on production and
costs of production. For example, both Oklahomakeaaksas, where properties that are subject to Pis Bre located, have the ability, directly
or indirectly, to limit production from those praties, and such limitations or changes in thoséditions could negatively impact us in the



future.




As another example, Oklahoma regulations curraetlyiire administrative hearings to change the autnaton of the operating
partnership’s gas production wells from one welldach 640 acres in the Guymon-Hugoton field. Prgsliy, certain interested parties have
sought regulatory changes in Oklahoma for "infidr"increased density drilling similar to that wiis available in Kansas, which allows one
well for each 320 acres. Should Oklahoma changexitting regulations to readily permit infill difig, it is possible that a number of
producers will commence increased density drillimgreas adjacent to the properties in Oklahomiatfeasubject to the NPIs. If the operating
partnership or other operators of our propertieaatado the same, our production levels relatinthése properties may decrease, or mineral
owners may demand increased density drilling. @apitpenditures relating to increased density erptloperties underlying the NPIs would
deducted from amounts payable to us under the NPIs.

Environmental costs and liabilities and changingieznmental regulation could affect our cash flow.

As with other companies engaged in the ownershippaoduction of oil and natural gas, we always ekpe have some risk of exposure
environmental costs and liabilities because théscassociated with environmental compliance or diation could reduce the amount we
would receive from our properties. The properties/hich we hold interests are subject to extentgderal, state, tribal and local regulatory
requirements relating to environmental affairs ltheand safety and waste management. Governmauttadrities have the power to enforce
compliance with applicable regulations and permisich could increase production costs on our priggeand affect their cash flow. Third
parties may also have the right to pursue leg&reto enforce compliance. Because we do notfttlreperate our properties, our direct
liability under environmental laws is limited. i¢tlikely, however, that expenditures in connectigth environmental matters, individually or
as part of normal capital expenditure programd, afféct the net cash flow from our properties.Ufatenvironmental law developments, such
as stricter laws, regulations or enforcement padictould significantly increase the costs of potidn from our properties and reduce our cast
flow.

The following is a summary of some of the existamyironmental laws, rules and regulations thatyapipbil and gas operations, and that
may indirectly affect our cash flow.

The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensatd Liability Act ("CERCLA”"). CERCLA, also known as the Superfund li
and comparable state statutes impose strict ligpéind under certain circumstances, joint and regVi@bility, on classes of persons who are
considered to be responsible for the release akzardous substance into the environment. The thandrdous substance” is specifically
defined to exclude petroleum, including crude aill @ny fraction thereof, natural gas and naturalligmids. Despite this exclusion, certain
hazardous substances are commonly used in conm&atio oil and gas operations. Responsible pergmigde the owner or operator of the
site where the release occurred, and anyone whposks or arranged for the disposal of a hazarddustance released at the site. Under
CERCLA, such persons may be subject to strictf jamd several liabilities for the costs of inveatigg releases of hazardous substances,
cleaning up the hazardous substances that haverdleased into the environment, for damages toralatesources and for the costs of certain
health studies. In addition, it is not uncommonrfeighboring landowners and other third-partieléoclaims for personal injury and property
damage allegedly caused by the hazardous substabeased into the environment. The operators ppoaperties may be responsible under
CERCLA for all or part of the costs to clean ugsitit which hazardous substances have been dispakkedugh we are not an operator, our
ownership of royalty interests could cause us teelsponsible for all or part of such costs to tkterst that CERCLA imposes such
responsibilities on such parties as “owners.”

The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRAY comparable state statutes regulate the gemermansportation, treatment,
storage, disposal and cleanup of hazardous andthamerdous wastes. Drilling fluids, produced watet most of the other wastes associated
with the exploration, development and productiowibbr gas are currently excluded from regulatimmer RCRA’s hazardous waste
provisions. However, it is possible that certaihapid gas exploration and production could be diasisas hazardous wastes in the future. In
addition, exploration and production wastes arellegd under state laws analogous to RCRA. Ousarties have produced oil/or gas for
many years. We have no knowledge of the propexéyaiors’ procedures with respect to the dispadsail @and gas wastes. Hydrocarbons or
other solid or hazardous wastes may have beerseglem or under our properties by the operatopsior operators. Our properties and the
materials disposed or released on, at, under or fthem may be subject to CERCLA, RCRA and analogtate laws, and removal or
remediation of such materials could be required lgpvernmental authority.

The federal Clean Air Act and comparable state leagsilate emissions of various air pollutants tigtoair emissions permitting programs
and other requirements. Existing laws and reguiateind possible future laws and regulations mayire@ur operators to obtain pre-approval
for the expansion or modification of existing fég#s or the construction of new facilities expette produce air emissions and may impose
stringent air permit requirements or use specijgigment or technologies to control emissions. ERA continues to develop, stringent
regulations governing emissions of toxic air pahts from oil and gas facilities. Specifically, April 18, 2012, the EPA issued new final
regulations under the New Source Performance Stdadd@\SPS”) and National Emission Standards foratdous Air Pollutants
(“NESHAPSs"). The new regulations are designedcetiuce volatile organic compound (“VOC”) emissiorwti hydraulically fractured wells
and other equipment. The regulations establish@thae-in period that extends until January 2@&ring the phase-in period, owners and
operators must either flare their emissions orsasealled “green completion” technology. After dary 2015 all newly hydraulically fractured
wells must use green completion technology. Obtgipermits and complying with these new requiretadias the potential to increase costs



of production and delay the development of our prtes.




The Federal Water Pollution Control Act (the “Cléafater Act”) and analogous state laws impose &iris and strict controls on the
discharge of pollutants and fill material, includispills and leaks of oil and other substancesnegalated waters, including wetlands. The
discharge of pollutants into regulated waters @hiited, except in accordance with the terms péamit issued by the EPA, an analogous ¢
agency, or, in the case of fill material, the Udit&tates Army Corps of Engineers. Compliance withGlean Water Act may restrict the
location of certain facilities, increase the cdstapital expenditures, and may result in pernytiielays.

The potential adoption of federal and state hydiafracturing legislation could delay or restricedelopment of our oil and natural gas
properties.

The Energy Policy Act of 2005 exempts hydraulicfuasing from federal regulation under the Safe Ririg Water Act (SDWA), provided
that diesel fuel is not used in the fracturing g In prior Congressional Sessions, legisldtambeen introduced that would have repealed
this exemption. If similar legislation were enatta could require hydraulic fracturing operatidnaneet permitting and financial assurance
requirements, adhere to certain construction sigatibns, fulfill monitoring, reporting and recorelping obligations and meet plugging and
abandonment requirements. Such federal legislatoid lead to operational delays or increasedatdjpey costs and could result in additional
regulatory burdens that could make it more diffi¢alperform hydraulic fracturing.

In 2010, the EPA asserted federal regulatory aitthover hydraulic fracturing involving diesel adisles through an informal policy
statement posted on the agency’s website. Indgstyps filed a lawsuit challenging the EPA’s dixis In February 2012, the EPA and
industry reached a settlement under which EPA agi@éssue hydraulic fracturing permitting guidaieeough the notice and comment
process. The EPA's final guidance, which has ebtyeen issued, may result in extensive requiresitbat could cause additional costs and
delays in the hydraulic fracturing process usiresdi fuel.

The EPA’s Office of Research and Development (OR@Zpnducting a scientific study to investigate plossible relationships between
hydraulic fracturing and drinking water. The ORDpegts to publish final results by 2014. In additiorthe EPA study, there are other
governmental reviews either underway or being psepgdhat focus on environmental aspects of hydréwcturing. The White House Cour
on Environmental Quality is coordinating an adntiggon-wide review of hydraulic fracturing, and@mmittee of the United States House of
Representatives has conducted an investigatiogdrihlic fracturing. Furthermore, a number of fed@igencies are analyzing, or have been
requested to review, a variety of environmentaléssassociated with hydraulic fracturing. For eplamin 2011 the U.S. Department of Ene
conducted an investigation to identify best praxgifor hydraulic fracturing. These investigatiamsl studies could result in additional effort
regulate hydraulic fracturing.

Beyond studying hydraulic fracturing, certain memnsb&f Congress have called upon the Government étedbility Office to investigate
how hydraulic fracturing might adversely affect aratesources and asked the Securities and Excl@mgenission to investigate the natural
gas industry and any possible misleading of inwesto the public regarding the economic feasibibitypursuing natural gas deposits in shales
by means of hydraulic fracturing. Any new fedeestrictions on hydraulic fracturing resulting frahese efforts could result in delays,
additional permitting and financial assurance regjuents, more stringent construction requiremengseby significantly increase operating,
capital and compliance costs. Such cost increamgd delay or restrict development by operatorsusfoil and natural gas properties.

Additionally, certain states in which our propestire located, including Texas and Wyoming, hawptatl, and other states are
considering adopting, regulations that could imposee stringent permitting, public disclosure arellwonstruction requirements on
hydraulic-fracturing operations or otherwise seekan fracturing activities altogether. For examplursuant to legislation adopted by the
State of Texas in June 2011, the Railroad Commissid exas enacted a rule in December 2011, remupublic disclosure of certain
information regarding additives, chemical ingredéeiconcentrations and water volumes used in h{idriacturing. In addition to state laws,
local land use restrictions, such as city ordinanogay restrict or prohibit well drilling in genéand/or hydraulic fracturing in particular. In
the event state, local, or municipal legal restiitd are adopted in areas where our propertieeated, the cost of the operators of our oil an
natural gas properties complying with such requéests may be significant in nature, which may caledays or curtailment in the pursuit of
exploration, development, or production activitiasgd perhaps even preclude the operators fronmndrilells.

The adoption of climate change legislation by Cesgrcould result in increased operating costs auliced demand for the oil and
natural gas production from our properties.

Congress has, from time to time, considered letiigido reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissiondal& Congress has not passed a bi
specifically addressing GHG regulation. Almostfiudlthe states, however, have developed GHG earigaventories and/or regional GHG
cap and trade programs. These cap and trade prsgeguire major sources of emissions or majorguediucers to acquire and surrender
emission allowances corresponding with their aneagibsions of GHGs. The number of allowances avigilfor purchase is reduced each yea
until the overall GHG emission reduction goal ihiaged. Many states also have enacted renewahi®lpmstandards, which require utilities
to purchase a certain percentage of their enegyy fenewable fuel sources.






In December 2009, the EPA determined that emissibnarbon dioxide, methane and other GHGs premeehdangerment to human
health and the environment by contributing to wauigndf the earth’s atmosphere and other climatiegha. These findings by the EPA
required the agency to adopt regulations to resBitG emissions under the federal Clean Air Acte BPA has a stationary source GHG rule
in May 2010, which requires sources meeting cettaiesholds to obtain a permit for GHG emissiofibe EPA has also proposed GHG
emissions standards for specific industries.

In December 2010, the EPA enacted final regulat@mnmandatory reporting of GHGs. That rule reqlime/ners or operators of facilities
that contain petroleum and natural gas systemeanid25,000 metric tons or more of GHGs per yeapiessed as carbon dioxide equivalent
or COZ2E) to report carbon dioxide, methane ane@u#roxide emissions, beginning on March 31, 2012 reporting deadline was later
extended by EPA to September 28, 2012, for emissioourring in 2011. The EPA has indicated thailituse data collected through the
reporting rules to decide whether to promulgatarigreenhouse gas emission limits.

Although it is not possible at this time to predidiether or when Congress may act on climate chiggglation, any laws or regulations
that may be adopted to restrict or reduce emisid@&HGs could require the operating partnershigh @hand natural gas operators that
develop our properties to incur increased operatosys and could have an adverse effect on denoarildef oil and natural gas produced from
our properties.

Our oil and natural gas reserve data and future reefenue estimates are uncertain.

Estimates of proved reserves and related futureewenues are projections based on engineeringaddtaeports of independent consul
petroleum engineers hired for that purpose. Thega® of estimating reserves requires substantighjent, resulting in imprecise
determinations. Different reserve engineers mayenthiferent estimates of reserve quantities aratedlrevenue based on the same data.
Therefore, those estimates should not be constasiéing accurate estimates of the current magtaéof our proved reserves. If these
estimates prove to be inaccurate, our businessmaylversely affected by lower revenues. We aeet#il by changes in oil and natural gas
prices. QOil prices and natural gas prices may a@gpee inverse price changes.

Risks Inherent In An Investment In Our Common Units
Cost reimbursement due our general partner mayubstantial and reduce our cash available to disitéto our unitholders.

Prior to making any distribution on the common sinite reimburse the general partner and its dffdidor reasonable costs and expenses
of management. The reimbursement of expenses eoulersely affect our ability to pay cash distribas to our unitholders. Our general
partner has sole discretion to determine the amaiutitese expenses, subject to the annual linB@6fof an amount primarily based on our
distributions to partners for that fiscal year. Emnual limit includes carry-forward and cabgek features, which could allow costs in a yei
exceed what would otherwise be the annual reimbwsélimit. In addition, our general partner argldffiliates may provide us with other
services for which we will be charged fees as deitged by our general partner.

Our net income as reported for tax and financiaksient purposes may differ significantly from cash flow that is used to determine
cash available for distributions.

Net income as reported for financial statement pseg is presented on an accrual basis in confomitityaccounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. Unithokld. tax statements are calculated based on atidicax conventions, and taxable income
as calculated for each year will be allocated amaritholders who hold units on the last day of eamth. Distributions, however, are
calculated on the basis of actual cash receipt)gds in cash reserves, and disbursements dugngldvant reporting period. Consequently,
due to timing differences between the receipt otpeds of production and the point in time at whighproduction giving rise to those
proceeds actually occurs, net income reported oransolidated financial statements and on uni@rolt1's will not reflect actual cash
distributions during that reporting period.

Our unitholders have limited voting rights and dut nontrol our general partner, and their ability temove our general partner is limit

Our unitholders have only limited voting rights ratters affecting our business. The general padheur general parther manages our
activities. Our unitholders only have the rightatmually elect the managers comprising the Advigmynmittee of the Board of Managers of
the general partner of our general partner. Ouhafders do not have the right to elect the othanagers of the general partner of our genera
partner on an annual or any other basis.

Our general partner may not be removed as our gepartner except upon approval by the affirmatigte of the holders of at least a
majority of our outstanding common units (includic@mmon units owned by our general partner andffiigates), subject to the satisfaction
certain conditions. Our general partner and itdiafs do not own sufficient common units to béeab prevent its removal as general partner,
but they do own sufficient common units to maker#raoval of our general partner by other unithaddéfficult.



These provisions may discourage a person or gmaump &ttempting to remove our general partner ouseaontrol of us without the
consent of our general partner. As a result ofehpgevisions, the price at which our common uméslé may be lower because of the absen
reduction of a takeover premium in the trading gric
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The control of our general partner may be transéelrto a third party without unitholder consent.

Our general partner may withdraw or transfer itsegal partner interest to a third party in a meyan a sale of all or substantially all of
its assets without the consent of our unithold®ther than some transfer restrictions agreed tangrttee owners of our general partner relating
to their interests in our general partner, themoisestriction in our partnership agreement oentlise for the benefit of our limited partners on
the ability of the owners of our general partnetrémsfer their ownership interests to a third yparhe new owner of the general partner would
then be in a position to replace the managemeotioPartnership with its own choices.

Our general partner and its affiliates have cortliof interests, which may permit our general partand its affiliates to favor their own
interests to the detriment of unitholders.

We and our general partner and its affiliates shamd therefore compete for, the time and effodesferal partner personnel who provide
services to us. Officers of our general partnerigmdffiliates do not, and are not required teergpany specified percentage or amount of time
on our business. In fact, our general partner tidgyato manage our Partnership in the best intei#our unitholders, but it also has a duty to
operate its business for the benefit of its pagnBome of our officers are also involved in manag@ and ownership roles in other oil and
natural gas enterprises and have similar dutiéisetm and devote time to their businesses. Becaese shared officers function as both our
representatives and those of our general partrtkit@affiliates and of third parties, conflictsinferest could arise between our general partne
and its affiliates, on the one hand, and us ommitholders, on the other, or between us or outhotders on the one hand and the third parties
for which our officers also serve management fumdi As a result of these conflicts, our generdinea and its affiliates may favor their own
interests over the interests of unitholders.

We may issue additional securities, diluting ouithuwlders' interests.

We can and may issue additional common units amer @apital securities representing limited paghgr units, including options,
warrants, rights, appreciation rights and secwritiéh rights to distributions and allocations eiiguidation equal or superior to our common
units; however, a majority of the unitholders magprove such issuance if (i) the partnership stestio be issued will have greater rights or
powers than our common units or (ii) if after gigiaffect to such issuance, such newly issued patifesecurities represent over 20% of the
outstanding limited partnership interests.

If we issue additional common units, it will redumer unitholders' proportionate ownership intemests. This could cause the market p
of the common units to fall and reduce the per cagh distributions paid to our unitholders. Initidd, if we issued limited partnership units
with voting rights superior to the common unitszéuld adversely affect our unitholders' voting gow

Our unitholders may not have limited liability inet circumstances described below and may be Ifablhe return of certain distribution

Under Delaware law, our unitholders could be highlé for our obligations to the same extent asrgegal partner if a court determined
that the right of unitholders to remove our genpeatner or to take other action under our parhipragreement constituted participation in the
"control" of our business.

Our general partner generally has unlimited lisypifor the obligations of our Partnership, suchitaslebts and environmental liabiliti
except for those contractual obligations of ourtfRaship that are expressly made without recoursleet general partner.

In addition, Section 1807 of the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Parshigps Act provides that, under certain circumstan®
unitholder may be liable for the amount of disttiba for a period of three years from the dateisfribution.

Because we conduct our business in various sthie$aws of those states may pose similar riskaitaunitholders. To the extent to which
we conduct business in any state, our unitholdégitnbe held liable for our obligations as if thegre general partners if a court or
government agency determined that we had not ceahplith that state's partnership statute, or Hitggf unitholders constituted participation
in the "control" of our business under that stgt@dnership statute. In some of the states in e conduct business, the limitations on the
liability of limited partners for the obligationg a limited partnership have not been clearly dithéd.

We are dependent upon key personnel, and the i@eswices of any of our key personnel could adlgmffect our operations.

Our continued success depends to a consideratdetexion the abilities and efforts of the senionagement of our general partner,
particularly William Casey McManemin, its Chief Exdive Officer, James E. Raley, its Chief Operatbfficer, H. C. Allen, Jr., its Chief
Financial Officer, and Bradley J. Ehrman, its Vizesident of Operations. The loss of the servitesp of these key personnel could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operatidvie have not obtained insurance or entered mmayment agreements with any of these
key personnel.



11




We are dependent on service providers who assisithgroviding Schedule K-1 tax statements tounitholders.

There are a very limited number of service firmes tturrently perform the detailed computations eeei provide each unitholder with
estimated depletion and other tax information ssishe unitholder in various United States incaenecomputations. There are also very few
publicly traded limited partnerships that need ¢hesrvices. As a result, the future costs and tires$ of providing Schedule Kiax statemen
to our unitholders is uncertain.

Tax Risks

The tax consequences to a unitholder of the owipeestd sale of common units will depend in partlea unitholder’s tax circumstances.
Each unitholder should, therefore, consult suchthoider's own tax advisor about the federal, statel local tax consequences of the
ownership of common units.

We have not received a ruling or assurances fraen RS or any state or local taxing authority on angtters affecting us.

We have not requested, and will not request, aliygdrom the Internal Revenue Service, or IRSany state or local taxing authority w
respect to owning and disposing of our common wriny other matter. It may be necessary to rés@tiministrative or court proceedings in
an effort to sustain some or all of those conclusior positions taken or expressed by us, and sorak of those conclusions or positions
ultimately may not be sustained. Our unitholders g@neral partner will bear, directly or indirectilge costs of any contest with the IRS or
other taxing authority.

We will be subject to federal income tax and pdgsibrtain state corporate income or franchise @ieve are classified as a corporation
and not as a partnership for federal income taxguses.

As stated above, we have not requested, and willeguest, any ruling from the IRS as to our statua partnership for federal income tax
purposes. If the IRS were to challenge our fedamme tax status, such a challenge could resalhiaudit of our unitholders’ tax returns and
adjustments to items on their tax returns thauarelated to their ownership of our common unitsaddition, our unitholders would bear the
cost of any expenses incurred in connection witkyamination of their personal tax returns.

If we were taxable as a corporation for federabime tax purposes in any taxable year, our incomiasglosses and deductions would be
reflected on our tax return rather than being ph#is®ugh proportionately to our unitholders, and wet income would be taxed at corporate
rates. In addition, some or all of the distribuianade to our unitholders would be treated as ehddncome without offset for depletion, and
distributions would be reduced as a result of #uefal, state and local taxes paid by us.

If we were taxable as a corporation for federabime tax purposes, we may also be subject to addltgiate-level corporate income or
franchise taxes.

The IRS could reallocate items of income, gainudédn and loss between transferors and transfecde®mmon units if the IRS does not
accept our monthly convention for allocating sutetmis.

In general, each of our items of income, gain, boss$ deduction will, for federal income tax purpodee determined annually, and one
twelfth of each annual amount will be allocatedhose unitholders who hold common units on thebastness day of each month in that year
In certain circumstances we may make these allmtsiin connection with extraordinary or nonrecigravents on a more frequent basis. As a
result, transferees of our common units may becatkx items of our income, gain, loss and deducgatized by us prior to the date of their
acquisition of our common units. The U.S. Treaddepartment has issued proposed Treasury Reguldahiahprovide a safe harbor pursuar
which publicly traded partnerships may use a sinmianthly simplifying convention to allocate tagms among transferors and transferee
unitholders. Nonetheless, if this method is deteedh to be an unreasonable method of allocationijnmome, gain, loss and deduction would
be reallocated among our unitholders and our gépartner, and our unitholders may have more taxatdome or less taxable loss. Our
general partner is authorized to revise our metifadlocation between transferors and transferaesyell as among our other unitholders
whose common units otherwise vary during a taxpbtéod, to conform to a method permitted or reqglivg the Internal Revenue Code anc
regulations or rulings promulgated thereunder.

Our unitholders may not be able to deduct lossgihatable to their common units.

Any losses relating to our unitholders’ common simifll be losses related to portfolio income angirtlability to use such losses may be
limited.

Our unitholders’ partnership tax information may &eadited.



We will furnish our unitholders with a Schedule Kek statement that sets forth their allocableeslo&income, gains, losses and
deductions. In preparing this schedule, we will w@gous accounting and reporting conventions aribus depreciation and amortization
methods we have adopted. This schedule may nat gietsult that conforms to statutory or regulateguirements or to administrative
pronouncements of the IRS. Further, our tax retoay be audited, and any such audit could res@hiaudit of our unitholders’ individual
income tax returns as well as increased liabilittegaxes because of adjustments resulting fraamatidit. An audit of our unitholders’ returns

also could be triggered if the tax information tielg to their common units is not consistent whik Schedule K-1 that we are required to
provide to the IRS.
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Our unitholders may have more taxable income o tagable loss with respect to their common uhitse IRS does not respect our
method for determining the adjusted tax basis eif ttommon units.

We have adopted a reporting convention that willde our unitholders to track the basis of thailiviidual common units or unit groups
and use this basis in calculating their basis &djests under Section 743 of the Internal Revenute@md gain or loss on the sale of common
units. This method does not comply with an IRSngilihat requires a portion of the combined taxsagall common units to be allocated to
each of the common units owned by a unitholder wpeale or disposition of less than all of the canranits and may be challenged by the
IRS. If such a challenge is successful, our uniterid may have to recognize more taxable incomessrthxable loss with respect to common
units disposed of and common units they continueotd.

Tax-exempt investors may recognize unrelated bssitgexable income.

Generally, unrelated business taxable income, oflU&an arise from a trade or business unrelateédd@xempt purposes of the tax-
exempt entity that is regularly carried on by eittie tax-exempt entity or a partnership in whioh tax-exempt entity is a partner. However,
UBTI does not apply to interest income, royaltiegl(iding overriding royalties) or net profits inésts, whether the royalties or net profits are
measured by production or by gross or taxable irciom the property. Pursuant to the provisionswfpartnership agreement, our general
partner shall use all reasonable efforts to preusritom realizing income that would constitute UBh addition, our general partner is
prohibited from incurring certain types and amouwftsidebtedness and from directly owning workinterests or cost bearing interests and, it
the event that any of our assets become workimgests or cost bearing interests, is requiredgsgasuch interests to the operating partne
subject to the reservation of a net profits ovémgdoyalty interest. However, it is possible that may realize income that would constitute
UBTI in an effort to maximize unitholder value.

Tax consequences of certain NPIs are uncertain.

We are prohibited from owning working interestost-bearing interests. At the time of the creatibthe Minerals NPI, we assigned to
the operating partnership all rights in any suchkivay interests or cost-bearing interests that inggibsequently be created from the mineral
properties that were and are subject of the Miseditl. As additional working interests and othestdmearing interests are created out of suct
mineral properties, they are owned by the operaiargnership pursuant to such original assignmeard,we have executed various documents
since the creation of the Minerals NPI to confimels treatment under the original assignment. Tea&timent could be characterized differently
by the IRS, and in such a case we are unable thapravith certainty, all of the income tax conseques relating to the Minerals NPI as it
relates to such working interests and other coatibg interests.

Our unitholders may not be entitled to deductimrsplercentage depletion with respect to our oil anadural gas interests.

Our unitholders will be entitled to deductions foe greater of either cost depletion or (if othaevallowable) percentage depletion with
respect to the oil and natural gas interests ovlyads. However, percentage depletion is generabylable to a unitholder only if he qualifies
under the independent producer exemption contaimtgee Internal Revenue Code. For this purposéna@ependent producer is a person not
directly or indirectly involved in the retail sabd oil, natural gas, or derivative products or tiperation of a major refinery. If a unitholder does
not qualify under the independent producer exemptie generally will be restricted to deductionsdzhon cost depletion.

Our unitholders may have more taxable income o tagable loss on an ongoing basis if the IRS doésccept our method of allocating
depletion deductions.

The Internal Revenue Code requires that incomae, ¢m8s and deduction attributable to appreciatedepreciated property that is
contributed to a partnership in exchange for angaship interest in the partnership must be aletab that the contributing partner is charged
with, or benefits from, unrealized gain or unreaidoss, referred to as “Built-in Gain” and “BuiftL.0ss,” respectively, associated with the
property at the time of its contribution to thetparship. Our partnership agreement provides Heatjusted tax basis of the oil and natura
properties contributed to us is allocated to thetrdouting partners for the purpose of separatelgianining depletion deductions. Any gain or
loss resulting from the sale of property contriloutie us will be allocated to the partners that boted the property, in proportion to their
percentage interest in the contributed propertyake into account any Built-in Gain or Built-in $2 This method of allocating Built-in Gain
and Built-in Loss is not specifically permitted byited States Treasury regulations, and the IRS challenge this method. Such a challenge,
if successful, could cause our unitholders to reacmore taxable income or less taxable loss amngoing basis in respect of their common
units.
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Our unitholders may have more taxable income o tagable loss on an ongoing basis if the IRS doésccept our method of
determining a unitholder's share of the basis atmpership property.

Our general partner utilizes a method of calcutpgach unitholder's share of the basis of partigemmioperty that results in an aggregate
basis for depletion purposes that reflects thelmse price of common units as paid by the unitholfleis method is not specifically authori:
under applicable Treasury regulations, and thertR$ challenge this method. Such a challenge, dessaful, could cause our unitholders to
recognize more taxable income or less taxabledosan ongoing basis in respect of their commonsunit

The ratio of the amount of taxable income that bdlallocated to a unitholder to the amount of ctstt will be distributed to a unitholder
is uncertain, and cash distributed to a unitholdeay not be sufficient to pay tax on the income Neeate to a unitholder.

The amount of taxable income realized by a unithoWill be dependent upon a number of factors iiclg: (i) the amount of taxable
income recognized by us; (ii) the amount of anyngacognized by us that is attributable to speeifiset sales that may be wholly or partially
attributable to Built-in Gain and the resultingoaition of such gain to a unitholder, dependinghenasset being sold; (iii) the amount of basis
adjustment pursuant to the Internal Revenue Codiadle to a unitholder based on the purchase fisicany common units and the amount
which such price was greater or less than a umighrtd proportionate share of inside tax basis ofamsets attributable to the common units
when the common units were purchased; and (ivirtehod of depletion available to a unitholder. Hfere, it is not possible for us to predict
the ratio of the amount of taxable income that idlallocated to a unitholder to the amount of ¢aahwill be distributed to a
unitholder. Unitholders may not receive cash thations from us equal to their share of our tagabtome or even equal to the actual tax
liability that results from that income.

A unitholder may lose his status as a partner afRartnership for federal income tax purposes ifiéreds our common units to a short
seller to cover a short sale of such common units.

If a unitholder loans his common units to a sheltes to cover a short sale of common units, he begonsidered as having disposed of
his ownership of those common units for federabme tax purposes. If so, the unitholder would m@ér be a partner of our Partnership for
tax purposes with respect to those common unitsigitine period of the loan and may recognize gaiess from the disposition. As a result,
during this period, any of our income, gain, lossleduction with respect to those common units @it be reportable, and any cash
distributions received for those common units wcaddfully taxable and may be treated as ordinacpnme.

If we are not notified (either directly or throughbroker) of a sale or other transfer of commontsjrsome distributions and federal
income tax information or reports with respect tels units may not be provided to the purchasernbetransferee of the units and may
instead continue to be provided to the originahtsteror.

If our transfer agent or any other nominee holdiojmmon units on behalf of a partner is not timadified of a sale or other transfer of
common units, and a proper transfer of ownershiptsecorded on the appropriate books and receouse distributions and federal income
tax information or reports with respect to thesmgmn units may not be made or provided to the temes of the units and may instead
continue to be made or provided to the originatdfaror. Notwithstanding a transferee's failuresiteive distributions and federal income tax
information or reports from us with respect to thesits, the IRS may contend that such transferaeartner for federal income tax purposes
and that some allocations of income, gain, losdedluction by us should have been reported by saokferee. Alternatively, the IRS may
contend that the transferor continues to be a paftm federal income tax purposes and that alionatof income, gain, loss or deduction by us
should have been reported by such transferorelfrimsferor is not treated as a partner for fédecame tax purposes, any cash distributions
received by such transferor with respect to thesfierred units following the transfer would be yuthxable as ordinary income to the transft

A sale or exchange of 50% or more of the totalrégts in our capital and profits within a 12-momtériod could result in adverse tax
consequences to a unitholder.

We will terminate for federal income tax purpodethére is a sale or exchange of 50% or more ofdtad interests in our capital and
profits within a 12-month period. A termination wduesult in the closing of our taxable year farrdtholder. As a result, if a unitholder has a
different taxable year than we have, he may beiredjtio include his allocable share of our incogein, loss, deduction, credits and other
items from both the taxable year ending prior ®ykar of our termination and the short taxable gading at the time of our termination in
same taxable year. A termination also could raaysenalties if we were unable to determine thattdrmination occurred.

Foreign, state and local taxes could be withheldaorounts otherwise distributable to a unitholder.
A unitholder may be required to file tax returnsldoe subject to tax liability in the foreign, statelocal jurisdictions where he resides and

in each state or local jurisdiction in which we bassets or otherwise do business. We also maggoéed to withhold state income tax from
distributions otherwise payable to a unitholded atate income tax may be withheld by others omltgypayments to us.
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Certain U.S. federal income tax deductions curseatlailable with respect to oil and natural gas lexation and development may be
eliminated as a result of future legislation.

Both the Proposed Fiscal Year 2013 Federal Budgktecently proposed legislation in Congress waitllehhacted into law, make
significant changes to United States tax laws uidiclg the elimination of certain key U.S. federadome tax incentives currently available to
oil and natural gas exploration activities. Thelsanges include, but are not limited to, (i) thesapf the percentage depletion allowance for
oil and natural gas properties, (ii) the eliminatif current deductions for intangible drilling adelvelopment costs, (iii) the repeal of the
domestic manufacturing tax deduction for oil anturel gas companies, and (iv) an extension of thertization period for certain geological
and geophysical expenditures. It is unclear whedhgrsuch changes will be enacted or how soon aety changes could become effective.
passage of any legislation as a result of thesgosads or any other similar changes in U.S. fedacaime tax laws could eliminate certain tax
deductions that are currently available to ourhgiders and to oil and natural gas operators tleataly upon to develop our properties. Such
legislation or changes could negatively impact mthunitholders and our Partnership financially.

Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Statements included in this report that are ndbhisal facts (including any statements concermitams and objectives of management for
future operations or economic performance, or apsioms or forecasts related thereto), are forwaaking statements. These statements can
be identified by the use of forward-looking ternmiogy including "may," "believe," "will," "expect,"anticipate," "estimate," "continue" or
other similar words. These statements discussdgxpectations, contain projections of resultsparations or of financial condition or state
other forward-looking information.

These forward-looking statements are made based mpmagement's current plans, expectations, estinassumptions and beliefs
concerning future events impacting us and, theegforolve a number of risks and uncertainties.dAfation that forward-looking statements
are not guarantees and that actual results coffld diaterially from those expressed or impliedhia forward-looking statements for a number
of important reasons, including those discusse@utilisk Factors" and elsewhere in this report.

You should read these statements carefully bedhegemay discuss our expectations about our fygaredormance, contain projections of
our future operating results or our future finahc@ndition, or state other forward-looking infortivam. Before you invest, you should be aware
that the occurrence of any of the events hereioritesd in "Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this repould substantially harm our business,
results of operations and financial condition amat upon the occurrence of any of these eventdrddeng price of our common units could
decline, and you could lose all or part of yourastment.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Facilities

Our office in Dallas consists of 11,847 square tddeased office space. The operating partnersivips a field office in Hooker,
Oklahoma.

Properties
We own two categories of properties: Royalty Propsrand Net Profits Interests (“NPIs”).
Royalty Properties

We own Royalty Properties representing producirdyraanproducing mineral, royalty, overriding royaliet profits and leasehold intere
in properties located in 574 counties and parigh@$ states. Acreage amounts listed herein reptess best estimates based on information
provided to us as a royalty owner. Due to the §icamit number of individual deeds, leases and siniilstruments involved in the acquisition
and development of the Royalty Properties by usuoipredecessors, acreage amounts are subjecngelas new information becomes
available. In addition, as a royalty owner, ouresscto information concerning activity and operaion the Royalty Properties is limited. M
of our producing properties are subject to oldésamnd other contracts pursuant to which we aremtdted to well information. Some of our
newer leases provide for access to technical datather information. We may have limited accesgublic data in some areas through third
party subscription services. Consequently, the taxamber of wells producing from or drilling on tReyalty Properties is not determinable.
The primary manner by which we will become awaradifvity on the Royalty Properties is the receiptlivision orders or other



correspondence from operators or purchasers.
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Acreage Summary

The following table sets forth, as of DecemberZ112, a summary of our gross and net acres, wipglecable, of mineral, royalty,
overriding royalty and leasehold interests, andrapilation of the number of counties and parishebstates in which these interests are
located. The majority of our net mineral acreswarkeased. Acreage amounts may not add across adwetiapping ownership among
categories.

Overriding
Mineral Royalty Royalty Leasehold Total
Number of State 25 18 17 8 25
Number of Counties/Parish 465 19C 137 34 574
Gross Acres 2,308,001 617,00( 209,00 34,00( 3,117,001
Net Acres (where applicabl 378,00( — — — 378,00(

Our net interest in production from royalty, ovdinig royalty and leasehold interests is based aseleoyalty and other third-party
contractual terms, which vary from property to mup. Consequently, net acreage ownership in tbasgories is not determinable. Our net
interest in production from properties in which @wn a royalty or overriding royalty interest maydféected by royalty terms negotiated by
the mineral interest owners in such tracts and thesees. Our interest in the majority of thesgperties is perpetual in nature. However, a
minor portion of the properties are subject to teand conditions pursuant to which a portion ofioterest may terminate upon cessation of
production.

The following table sets forth, as of DecemberZ112, the combined summary of total gross and eresawhere applicable, of mineral,
royalty, overriding royalty and leasehold interésteach of the states in which these interestéoasted.

State Gross® Net @ State Gross Net @)
Alabama 105,00 8,00( Missouri 1,00(¢ < 50(
Arkansas 47,00( 16,00( Montana 282,00( 63,00(
California 1,00( < 50C Nebraska 3,00( < 50(
Colorado 23,00( 1,00C New Mexico 42,00( 3,00(¢
New
Florida 89,00( 25,00C York 23,00( 19,00(
North
Georgia 4,00(¢ 1,00C Dakota 293,00( 46,00(
Illinois 5,00( 1,00C Oklahoma 230,00( 17,00(
Indiana < 50( < 50C Pennsylvania 10,00( 6,00(
South
Kansas 14,00( 2,00( Dakota 14,00( 1,00(
Kentucky 2,00( 1,00C Texas 1,639,00! 152,00(
Louisiana 131,00( 3,00C Utah 6,00( < 50(
Michigan 54,00( 3,00C Wyoming 27,00( 1,00(
Mississippi 72,00( 9,00(

(1) <500 means acreage owned did not round up to 1,000

Leasing Activity

The operating partnership and we received cash gamin the amount of $4,568,000 during 2012 attable to lease bonus on 51 leases
and 13 pooling elections and two lease amendmeniénds located in 24 counties and parishes inrsstaes. These leases reflected bonus
payments ranging up to $7,000/acre and initial ltgytarms ranging up to 25%.

The following table sets forth a summary of leased pooling elections consummated during 2010 ghd012.

2012 2011 2010
Number 66 42 103
Number of State 7 7 8
Number of Countie 19 26 32
Average Royalty 23.1% 26.(% 24.&%

Average Bonus, $/acre $ 1332 $ 472 $ 1,70¢



Total Lease Bonus — cash basis $ 4,568,000 $ 571,000 % 3,862,001

Amounts reflected above may differ from our cordated financial statements, which are presenteghaccrual basis. Some activity may
be in Net Profits Interests income. Average rgyatid average bonus exclude amounts attributaldedbing elections, lease extensions and
amendments. Payments received for gas storageinshntl delay rental payments, coal royalty, swefase agreements, litigation judgments
and settlement proceeds are reflected in our coiaet financial statements in various categonehiding, but not limited to, other operating
revenues and other income.
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Net Profits | nterests

We own net profits overriding royalty interestsfémeed to as the Net Profits Interests, or “NPIg"yarious properties owned by the
operating partnership. We receive monthly paymeqtgling 96.97% of the net profits actually realiby the operating partnership from
these properties in the preceding month. In th@tesests exceed revenues on a cash basis in amioeth for properties subject to a Net
Profits Interest, no payment is made and any deficiccumulated and carried over and reflectdtierfollowing month's calculation of net
profit.

As of December 31, 2012 each of the six NPIs hageipusly had cumulative revenue that exceeded tative costs, such excess
constituting net proceeds on which NPI paymentewietermined. In the event an NPI has a defiaiuofiulative revenue versus cumulative
costs, the deficit will be borne solely by the ayigrg partnership. One minor NPI is currentlyémporary deficit.

The Minerals NPI (one of the six) owns certain dmsdring interests that were either in existendhetime of our formation, or created
subsequent to our formation but associated wittpramucing mineral, royalty and leasehold interespprties acquired upon our formation.
The Minerals NPI achieved a cumulative net prdfitiss on September 30, 2011 as a result of its ativel net revenue exceeding cumulative
operating and actual and budgeted capital experediand development costs. Subsequent MineralaBunts and payments distributed to
us are:

Distribution
NPI Period Ended NPI Amount Period
Nov. 30, 2011 $ 1,347,000 $ 1,306,00! 4th Qtr. 201
Feb. 29, 2012 $ 709,000 $ 688,00( 1st Qtr. 201
May 31, 2012 $ 354,000 $ 343,00( 2nd Qtr. 201
Aug. 31, 2012 $ 395,000 $ 383,00( 3rd Qtr. 201
Nov. 30, 2012 $ 769,000 $ 746,00( 4th Qtr. 201

Prior to the Minerals NPI achieving a cumulativgat status, activity attributable to the MinerblBI was not reflected in our
consolidated financial statements in accordancle génerally accepted accounting principles. Effecthird quarter 2011, our consolidated
financial statements reflect activity attributabideghe Minerals NPI, and include cash receiptsdisbursements and accrued revenues and
costs not yet received or paid by the NPI. Ouarditial statements will now continue to reflect sinfbrmation regardless of its net profit
status on a cumulative or reporting period badie @mounts included in Net Profits Income for thiadvals NPI for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2012 were $4,415,000 and&0®0, respectively.

Acreage Summary

The following tables set forth, as of DecemberZ112, information concerning properties owned teydperating partnership and subject
to the NPIs, including the Minerals NPI propertidsreage amounts listed under “Leasehold” refleosg acres leased by the operating
partnership and the working interest share (nets3dn those properties. Acreage amounts liste@ntMineral” reflect gross acres in which
the operating partnership owns a mineral intenedtthe undivided mineral interest (net acres) oséhproperties. The operating partnership's
interest in these properties may be unleased,ddasethers or a combination thereof. Acreage artsonmay not add across due to overlapping
ownership among categories. In addition to amolistesd below, the operating partnership owns gges limited to certain wellbores located
on lands in which we own mineral, royalty or leagdhinterests. The acreage amounts associatedivétivellbore interests are included in
Royalty Properties Acreage Summary and not indabietbelow.

Mineral Royalty Leasehold Total
Number of State 12 2 7 13
Number of Counties/Parish 60 2 14 66
Gross Acres 50,00( 1,00( 100,00( 150,00(
Net Acres 6,00( — 82,00( 88,00(

The following table reflects the states in which #treage amounts listed above are located.

Mineral/Royalty Leasehold Total
Gross Net (1) Gross Net (1) Gross Net
Oklahoma 12,00( 1,00( 80,00( 74,00( 92,00( 75,00(
Kansas 1,00( <500 7,00( 7,00( 7,00C 7,00(
Arkansas 1,00( < 500 8,00( 1,00( 9,00( 1,00(

All Others 37,00( 5,00( 5,00( < 500 42,00( 5,00(




Totals 51,00( 6,00( 100,00( 82,00( 150,00( 88,00(

(1) <500 means acreage owned did not round up to 1,000
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The operating partnership owns working interestevb¢he currently producing horizons in 47,360 g/d§,960 net acres in Texas
County, Oklahoma. The operating partnership has fime to time farmed out its leasehold interestsartions of these lands, reserving an
overriding royalty interest therein, and will comsi additional exploration or development of thiesels as circumstances warrant. The
leasehold acreage in Arkansas listed above inclallie$ the acreage in the Fayetteville Shale priogein which the operating partnership
participates as a working interest owner.

Costs Incurred
The following table sets forth information regamglibh00% of the costs incurred on a cash basis bgpkeating partnership during the

periods indicated in connection with the propertiaderlying the NPIs.
Years ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Acquisition costs $ — $ — $ =
Development cost$) 6,50¢ 5,35¢ 3,26¢
Total $ 6,50¢ $ 535t % 3,26¢

(1) The years ended December 31, 2010, and 2011 ®§8249,000, and $3,811,000, respectively, ataliia to NPIs before reaching pay sta

Productive Well Summary
The following table sets forth, as of DecemberZ112, the combined number of producing wells onpttogerties subject to the NPIs,
including the Minerals NPI. Gross wells refer tolién which a working interest is owned. Net well® determined by multiplying gross

wells by the working interest in those wells.

Productive Wells/Units (1)

Location Gross Net

Oklahoma 20z 120.2
Kansas 20 20.C
All others 42¢ 18.€
Total 651 159.]

(1) Multiple well units operated by someone other ttf@noperating partnership and in which we own N#fésincluded as one gross wi

Drilling Activity

During 2012, we received division orders or firayments for 404 new wells completed on our Roy@ttyperties in eight states, and 86
new wells completed on our NPI Properties in sitedt. Included in these totals are wells in whiehown both a royalty interest and a net
profits interest. Wells with such overlapping megts are counted in both categories.

Additional information concerning selected propestis summarized below:

Appalachian Basir We own varying undivided perpetual mineral insésen approximately 31,000/24,000 gross/net a@oré&8 counties
in southern New York and northern Pennsylvania.r@gjnately 75% of those net acres are located sitega Allegany and western Steuben
Counties, New York—an area that some industry pregssrts suggest may be prospective for gas pramtufrom unconventional reservoirs,
including the Marcellus Shale. However, develophudrithese natural gas resources will be limitetll wemaining regulatory issues related to
high-volume hydraulic fracturing are resolved. Vatinue to monitor industry activity and encouraiggogue with industry participants to
determine the proper course of action regardingrdarests in this area. During the second quaift2012 the Partnership leased 506 net
acres in Lycoming County, Pennsylvania in multipénsactions for amounts ranging from $3,000 t@®3 per acre and 20% royalty
escalating to 25% in certain circumstances.

Fayetteville Shale Trend of Northern ArkansasWe own varying undivided perpetual mineraliesgs in approximately 23,000/11,000
gross/net acres located in Cleburne, Conway, Faullranklin, Johnson, Pope, Van Buren, and Whitsties, Arkansas in an area commc
referred to as the “Fayetteville Shate2nd of the Arkoma Basin. Permits for 439 welld lhhaen issued on these lands as of December 32,
of which the operating partnership owns an intereg87. In total, 413 wells were spud of which 3v&e completed as producers, including
wells for which we may not yet have received dimisorders or first payment.

Horizontal Bakken, Williston BasinWe own varying undivided perpetual mineral insésen approximately 70,000/9,000 gross/net acre:




located in Burke, Divide, Dunn, McKenzie, Mountraild Williams Counties, North Dakota. Permits364 wells had been issued on
these lands as of December 31, 2012. In totaly&8B were spud, of which 232 were completed aslpeers including wells for which we
may not yet have received division orders or faiggment. In most instances we elected to beconom-a@onsenting mineral owner—who,
according to North Dakota law, is not obligategh&y well costs, receives a royalty equal to theghveid average of all leases in the unit or
16% (at the operator’s option) from the date aftfproduction, and backs-in for its full workingénest after the operator has recovered 150%
of drilling and completion costs from the net céiskv. The back-in working interest, if any, is owhby the operating partnership subject to
the Minerals NPI burden. Non-consenting mineral ersrare not entitled to well data other than pubfiermation available from the North
Dakota Industrial Commission. As of December 31,2®1 of these wells had achieved 150% payout.
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Market dynamics in the Bakken Trend have evolvadltang in higher lease bonus and royalty offersuicleased mineral interests. We
are exploring our options and anticipate circulg#nRequest For Proposals (RFP) to industry ppatits seeking expressions of interest to
acquire a lease on our interests in this areagritbine our interests with others or to pursue a#téve transaction structures. We may engage
the services of an investment bank or other agerggresent us with respect to a RFP or in a tcdiosa We can not project if, when or with
whom we may elect to lease or otherwise transaor any part of our interests as a result of grscess.

Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

The following table reflects the Partnership's gabdeveloped and total proved reserves at DeceBih@012. The reserves are based
on the reports of two independent petroleum engingeonsulting firms: Calhoun, Blair & Associatasd LaRoche Petroleum
Consultants, Ltd. As described above, the Pattiedoes not have information that would be avddab a company with oil and natural
gas operations because detailed information ig@eogrally available to owners of royalty interestdie Partnership’s Vice President of
Operations (“VP") gathers production informatiordgrovides such information to our two independergineering consulting firms who
extrapolate from such information estimates ofrdserves attributable to the Royalty PropertiesMiRts based on their expertise in the oil
and natural gas fields where the Royalty PropeeiesNPIs are situated, as well as publicly avilaiformation. Ensuring compliance
with generally accepted petroleum engineering amdlation methods and procedures is the respoitigibfithe VP. Our VP has a
bachelor’s degree in Petroleum Engineering fromthversity of Alberta, and has worked in the ugatn oil and natural gas business in
various capacities since 1996. The VP reports thiréa the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”). Our CE€hsures compliance with SEC
guidance. Our CEO received his Bachelor of Scigleggee in Petroleum Engineering from Texas A&Muégnsity in 1984, and has been
a Registered Professional Engineer in Texas sifi88.1Calhoun Blair & Associates is registered wiith Engineering Board of the State of
Texas, and has been engaged in the businessasfcbilatural gas property evaluation since 1998 ochR Petroleum Consultants, Ltd. is
registered with the Engineering Board of the Stdif€exas. The LaRoche firm has been engaged ibubmess of oil and natural gas
property evaluation since its formation in 197%étthan our filings with the SEC, we have notditee estimated proved reserves with, or
included them in any reports to, any federal age@opies of the reports prepared by Calhoun, Blakssociates and LaRoche Petroleum
Consultants, Ltd. are attached hereto as ExhiBits 8nd 99.2.

Summary of Oil and Gas Reserves as of Fiscal YeamB
All Proved Developed and located in the United &tat

Royalty Properties Net Profits Interests® Total

Oil Natural Gas Qil Natural Gas Qil Natural Gas
Year (mbbls) (mmcf) (mbbls) (mmcf) (mbbls) (mmcf)
2012 3,35( 36,78( 297 27,36 3,64 64,14.
2011 3,31( 38,94( 25€ 28,02! 3,56¢ 66,96
2010 3,29( 36,93 43 24,74¢ 3,33 61,67¢

(1) Reserves reflect 96.97% of the corresponding ansaasgigned to the operating partnership’s inteiedtse properties
underlying the Net Profits Interests.

Proved oil and natural gas reserves means thosgitiggof oil and natural gas, which, by analysfigeoscience and engineering data,
can be estimated with reasonable certainty to beaically producible—from a given date forwarayrfr known reservoirs, and under
existing economic conditions, operating methodd, gsvernmental regulations—prior to the time atekhdontracts providing the right to
operate expire, unless evidence indicates thatvwalris reasonably certain, regardless of wheth&rdenistic or probabilistic methods are
used for the estimation. The project to extraetttiidrocarbons must have commenced or the operaisirbe reasonably certain that it
will commence the project within a reasonable tiPlease see “ltem 7 — Management’s Discussion anadyAis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations — Results of Operatiforséiverage sales prices.
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The Hugoton Field reflected in the Net Profits tetds above is the only significant field, defiredmore than 15% of total proved
developed reserves. Hugoton Field production ¢atds) for the last three years is listed below:

Production by Significant Field

Qil bbls Gas mcf Boe
2012 — 3,239,00! 540,00(
2011 — 3,444,001 574,00(
2010 — 3,656,00! 609,00(

Title to Properties

We believe we have satisfactory title to all of assets. Record title to essentially all of ouetsshas undergone the appropriate filings in
the jurisdictions in which such assets are locafétk to property may be subject to encumbran@és believe that none of such encumbrance
should materially detract from the value of ourpedies or from our interest in these propertieshmuld materially interfere with their use in
the operation of our business.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In January 2002, some individuals and an assoniaitiled Rural Residents for Natural Gas Rightsidderchester Hugoton, Ltd., along
with several other operators in Texas County, Olaa regarding the use of natural gas from the virellssidences. The operating partnershi
now owns and operates the properties formerly ovinyeBorchester Hugoton. These properties contribigignificant portion of the NPI
amounts paid to us. On April 9, 2007, plaintifier immaterial costs, dismissed with prejudice llms against the operating partnership
regarding such residential gas use. On Octobed@¥4,2he plaintiffs filed severed claims against tiperating partnership regarding royalty
underpayments, which the Texas County District €subsequently dismissed with a grant of time pde@d. On January 27, 2006, one of the
original plaintiffs again sued the operating parsh@ for underpayment of royalty, seeking clagfoaccertification. On October 1, 2007, the
Texas County District Court granted the operatiagnership’s motion for summary judgment findingrmgalty underpayments.
Subsequently, the District Court denied the pléfistiotion for reconsideration, and the plainfifed an appeal. On March 31, 2010, the
appeal decision reversed and remanded to the Taxasty District Court to resolve material issuegaaf. On June 30, 2011, the District
Court issued a revised partial summary judgmefavnr of the operating partnership. On April 2812, the parties successfully mediated
terms for a settlement in the amount of $500,008 phmaterial future royalty amounts on fuel gabe settlement was approved by the
District Court on October 18, 2012. A $500,00Ceres was recorded in Net Profits Revenues on ttaniiial statements in the first quarter of
2012. During December 2012 the operating partigysid the settlement amount and the litigatiors @ismissed.

The Partnership and the operating partnershipnanahied in other legal and/or administrative pratiags arising in the ordinary course
of their businesses, none of which have predictabteomes and none of which are believed to hayesigmificant effect on financial
position or operating results.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, REL ATED UNITHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common units began trading on the NASDAQ Natidviarket (now the NASDAQ Global Select Market) leebruary 3, 2003. The
following table summarizes the high and low safderimation for the common units for the period tated.

2012 2011
High Low High Low
First Quarter $ 26.6C $ 21.8C $ 29.2t $ 25.9(
Second Quarter $ 26.1: $ 1987 $ 30.0¢ $ 25.1¢
Third Quarter $ 2288 $ 21.5¢ $ 28.2¢ $ 20.81
Fourth Quarter $ 2352 % 19.9C $ 25.7¢ $ 21.7¢

As of December 31, 2012, there were 15,570 commdhalders.

Beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2003egsired by our partnership agreement, we diseitband will continue to distribute,
on a quarterly basis, within 45 days of the enthefquarter, all of our available cash. Availaldstt means all cash and cash equivalents on
hand at the end of that quarter, less any amoucasif reserves that our general partner deterrsmesessary or appropriate to provide for
conduct of its business or to comply with appliealalws or agreements or obligations to which we begubject.

Unitholder cash distributions per common unit fog past four years have been:

Per Unit Amount

2012 2011 2010 2009
First Quarter $ 0.54188: $ 0.42674! $ 0.44922; $ 0.40120!
Second Quarter $ 0.45635. $ 0.41702° $ 0.41220 $ 0.27135.
Third Quarter $ 0.34325; $ 0.45554( $ 0.47108. $ 0.28696:
Fourth Quarter $ 0.43323; % 0.44855. $ 0.35407: $ 0.321541

Distributions beginning with the first quarter @20 were paid on 30,675,431 units; distributiomsrfthe second quarter of 2009
through the fourth quarter of 2009 were paid 0r829,431 units; previous distributions above werid pa 28,240,431 units. Fourth quarter
distributions are paid in February of the followicglendar year to unitholders of record in Janwarfyebruary of such following year. The
partnership agreement requires the next cashhiisivn to be paid by May 15, 2013.

Please see "Fourth Quarter 2012 Distribution Intdit#rice" discussion contained in “Item~7Management's Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operationisiquidity and Capital ResourcesDistributions” for production periods and cash ipteand
weighted average prices corresponding to the fayutrter 2012 distribution.
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the performance ofammmon units with the performance of the NASDAQQuosite Index (the
“NASDAQ Index”) and a peer group index from Decem®g&, 2007 through December 31, 2012. The grapimass that at the beginning
of the period, $100 was invested in each of (1)ammmon units, (2) the NASDAQ Index, and (3) themgroup, and that all distributions
or dividends were reinvested. We do not believédhg published industry or line-of-business indegurately reflects our business.
Accordingly, we have created a special peer gradpx consisting of companies whose royalty trugisuare publicly traded on the New
York Stock Exchange. Our peer group index inclutiesunits of the following companies: Cross TimtRoyalty Trust, Mesa Royalty
Trust, Sabine Royalty Trust, Permian Basin Royafyst, Hugoton Royalty Trust and the San Juan BRsiyalty Trust.
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MASDAD Composite Inde $100.00 $53.45 $85.55 $100.02 $35.22 #115.85

ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
Basis of Presentation
This table should be read in conjunction with tbasolidated financial statements and related rintgded elsewhere in this document.

Fiscal Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per unit data)

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Total operating revenues $ 63,20¢ $ 69,48¢ $ 61,09 $ 43,63. $ 89,92t
Depreciation, depletion and
amortization 16,58: 18,34¢ 17,98¢ 15,59¢ 14,73¢
Net income 38,02: 42,21¢ 34,88: 21,68: 66,78
Net income per unit (basic and dilut 1.2C 1.3¢ 1.11 0.7z 2.3C
Cash distribution§) 56,87( 52,50¢ 52,19¢ 44,72¢ 81,64¢
Cash distributions per urf# 1.7¢ 1.65 1.65 1.5C 2.8C
Total assets 123,80( 142,76¢ 153,11: 152,76¢ 139,56:
Total liabilities 537 65¢ 71C 737 98C

123,26: 142,11: 152,40: 152,03: 138,58:

Partners' capital

(1) Because of depletion (which is usually higher ia éiarly years of production), a portion of evestribution of revenues fro
properties represents a return of a limited pagreiginal investment. Until a limited partner edes cash distributions eqt



to his original investment, in certain circumstas)cEH00% of such distributions may be deemed tore¢uan of capital. Cash
distributions by year exclude the fourth quartestrithution declared in January of the following ydaut include the prior
year fourth quarter distribution declared in Jaguarthe current yea
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF F INANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
2012 Overview

Our results during 2012 were strong despite cortinow natural gas prices and reduced drillingvétgtin many of our producing
areas. Significant results include the following:

« Netincome of $38.0 millior
« Distributions of $54.9 million to our limited pagrs;

« ldentification of 404 new wells completed on oun@lty Properties in eight states, and 86 new walapleted on our NPI Properties
in six states. Included in these totals are welishich we own both a royalty interest and a rrefifs interest. Wells with such
overlapping interests are counted in both categorie

« Consummation of 66 leases, pooling elections adeamendments of our mineral interest in undevelgpeperties located in 24
counties and parishes in seven states, and

« Lease bonus income of $4.5 million dollars.

Critical Accounting Policies

We utilize the full cost method of accounting foists related to our oil and natural gas propertiesler this method, all such costs are
capitalized and amortized on an aggregate basistiogesstimated lives of the properties using thieseof-production method. These
capitalized costs are subject to a ceiling tedtliimits such pooled costs to the aggregate optlesent value of future net revenues attributable
to proved oil and natural gas reserves discourtté@% plus the lower of cost or market value ofnawpd properties. Our Partnership did not
assign any book or market value to unproved pra@asrincluding nonproducing royalty, mineral anddehold interests. The full cost ceiling is
evaluated at the end of each quarter and when®iraditate possible impairment. No impairments hasen recorded since 2003.

The discounted present value of our proved oilrzattdral gas reserves is a major component of tiiagéest calculation and requires
many subjective judgments. Estimates of resene$oaecasts based on engineering and geologichlsasa Different reserve engineers could
reach different conclusions as to estimated questitf natural gas or crude oil reserves basett@sdme information. Our reserve estimates
are prepared by independent consultants. The pass$aigne provides more qualitative informationaetjng reserve estimates, and revisions
are made to prior estimates based on updated iafam However, there can be no assurance that sigméicant revisions will not be
necessary in the future. Significant downward fievis could result in an impairment representin@@a-oash charge to income. In addition to
the impact on calculation of the ceiling test, rasties of proved reserves are also a major compofhém calculation of depletion.

While the quantities of proved reserves requirestariial judgment, the associated prices of oil r@attiral gas reserves that are included
in the discounted present value of our reserveslajectively determined. The ceiling test calcaatirequires use of the unweighted arithmetic
average of the first day of the month price dutimg 12-month period ending on the balance sheetatat costs in effect as of the last day of
the accounting period, which are generally heldstamt for the life of the properties. As a resihig present value is not necessarily an
indication of the fair value of the reserves. Qitlanatural gas prices have historically been Velatind the prevailing prices at any given time
may not reflect our Partnership’s or the industfgi®cast of future prices.

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assasfiiat affect the reported amounts of assetsiabiities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the finamstialements and the reported amounts of revenuesxaenses during the reporting period. For
example, estimates of uncollected revenues anddieppenses from Royalty Properties and NPIs opdray non-affiliated entities are
particularly subjective due to the inability to gaiccurate and timely information. Therefore, alctesults could differ from those estimates.
Please see “ltem 1. Business—Customers and Prieing)“Item 2. Properties—Royalty Properties” fodiéidnal discussion.

Contractual Obligations
Our office lease in Dallas, Texas comprises outragtual obligations.

Payments due by Period

Less than 1 More than 5
Contractual Obligations Total year 1-3 years 3-5 years years




Operating Lease Obligations $ 575,000 $ 249,000 $ 326,00(
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Results of Operations

Normally, our period-to-period changes in net ineoamd cash flows from operating activities are @pally determined by changes in
oil and natural gas sales volumes and prices,@aaddsser extent, by capital expenditures dedugtddr the NPI calculation. Our portion of
oil and natural gas sales volumes and weightechgeesales prices are shown in the following table.

Years Ended December 31,

Accrual Basis Sales Volumes: 2012 2011 2010
Royalty Properties Gas Sales (mmcf) 6,001 6,212 4,98
Royalty Properties Oil Sales (mbbls) 362 327 322
Net Profits Interests Gas Sales (mmcf) 4,42¢ 3,83¢ 3,351
Net Profits Interests Oil Sales (mbbls) 77 40 1C

Accrual Basis Weighted Averages Sales Price:

Royalty Properties Gas Sales ($/mcf) $ 282 % 371 % 4.21
Royalty Properties Oil Sales ($/bbl) $ 89.21 $ 915t $ 74.71
Net Profits Interests Gas Sales ($/mcf) $ 33 $ 481 $ 5.07
Net Profits Interests Oil Sales ($/bbl) $ 8767 $ 8827 $ 69.4(
Accrual Basis Production Costs Deducted under teRxofits Interests
($/mcfe)@ $ 28: $ 181 $ 1.7¢

(1) Provided to assist in determination of revenuepliep only to Net Profits Interests sales volumesgs.

Comparison of the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

Royalty Properties’ oil sales volumes increaseddlf®m 322 mbbls during 2010 to 327 mbbls during20and then increased 10.7% to
362 mbbls during 2012. The increases are primdrtbyto activity in the Bakken and Rockies regi®uyalty Properties’ gas sales volumes
increased 24.6% from 4,987 mmcf during 2010 to B @incf during 2011, and then decreased 3.3% torGy@@cf during 2012. The
increases in natural gas volumes between 2010 @kt \Rere primarily due to increased activity in Begyetteville Shale and Barnett Shale,
while the decreases in natural gas volumes bet@@gh and 2012 were primarily due to reduced agtivithose same areas.

Beginning in the third quarter of 2011 oil and gakes volumes attributable to our NPIs includedinws attributable to the Minerals
NPI. The Minerals NPI had cumulative revenuesxicess of cumulative operating and development chsisg the period ending Septem|
30, 2011. Sales volumes and prices attributablleedinerals NP1 during periods prior to the thipgarter of 2011 are excluded from the
above table because the Partnership did not reaeiy@ayments from such NPI sales volumes duriagelprior periods. The amounts
included in Net Profits Income for the Minerals NBi the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2012 $4415,000 and $1,546,000,
respectively. See “ltem 2 Properties — Net Prioftsrest.”

NPI properties’ oil sales volumes increased 3008mfi.0 mbbls during 2010 to 40 mbbls during 2014, ambsequently increased
92.5% to 77 mbbls during 2012, due to includingMirerals NPI and continued activity in the BakkeWPI properties’ gas sales volumes
increased 14.5% from 3,351 mmcf during 2010 to 8,;88ncf during 2011; and, subsequently increase44%0 4,429 mmcf in 2012,
principally due to including the Minerals NPI. Mirads NPI oil sales volumes and gas sales volun@sded in the Net Profits Interest
volumes were 31 mbbls and 713 mmcf for year 201l &5 mbbls 1,480 mmcf for year 2012. See “IteRr@perties — Net Profts Interest.”

Weighted average oil sales prices attributabl&éoRoyalty Properties increased 22.4% from $74€fpl in 2010 to $91.55 per bbl in
2011 and subsequently decreased 2.6% to $89.2dbper 2012. Royalty Properties’ weighted average gales prices decreased 10.5% from
$4.21 per mcf during 2010 to $3.77 per mcf durifg2and then decreased 25.2% to $2.82 per mcfgiafii2. All such fluctuations
resulted from changing market prices.

Weighted average NPI properties’ gas sales prieesedsed 5.1% from $5.07 per mcf during 2010 t82der mcf during 2011 and then
decreased 30.8% to $3.33 per mcf in 2012. NPI pti@seweighted average oil sales prices incre@se#% from $69.40 per bbl during 2010
to $88.27 per bbl during 2011 and subsequentlyedased only slightly to $87.67 per bbl in 2012. Alch fluctuations resulted from changing
market prices. Additionally, 2011 natural gas psigeclude a natural gas liquids payment accru&00®3/mcf related to 2011 production
compared to $0.77/mcf in 2010. The accrued 2012rabgas liquids payment of $0.71/mcf is includedhie $3.33/mcf average gas sales
price for 2012. The natural gas liquids paymengshased on an Oklahoma Guymon-Hugoton field 1984lghvery agreement that is in
effect through 2015. Under the terms of the agregpmehen the market price of natural gas liquidséases sufficiently disproportionately to
natural gas market prices, the operating partnergteives a portion of that increase in an anpagment. In the event the evaluation at the
end of the annual contract period shows the paytodmt determinable and collectable, the revenaedsued. Generally, we receive
payment in the first quarter of the following year.



The Partnership’s lease bonus income in 2012 aseet to $4,538,000 primarily due to proceeds pf@pmately $2,807,000 from two
leasing transactions in Lycoming County, Pennsyitvamd Wheeler County, Texas. Other operatingmesén 2012 mainly represents
recovery of compensatory royalty obligations.
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Our operating revenues increased 13.7% from $610094during 2010 to $69,489,000 in 2011 due togased oil and natural gas
volumes from property acquisitions effective Mag&d 2010, the Minerals NPI reaching payout in 20ddreased natural gas liquids
payments and increased oil prices offset by thetd@11 natural gas prices. Operating revenuegdsed 9.0% to $63,204,000 in 2012 due
to lower natural gas prices, partially offset bgrased lease bonus and oil production.

Depletion, depreciation and amortization increda@&o from $17,988,000 in 2010 to $18,348,000 in12fdmarily as a result of
increased production partially offset by a loweplé&ion rate due to upward revisions in oil andunatgas reserve estimates and inclusion of
the Minerals NPI reserves. During 2012 depletind amortization decreased 9.6% to $16,583,000,gpiliynas a result of a lower depletion
rate due to upward revisions in oil and naturalrgaerve estimates. Cash flow from operations astl distributions to unitholders are not
affected by depletion, depreciation and amortizatio

General and administrative (“G&A”) costs decreaskghtly from $4,128,000 in 2010 to $4,088,000 @12 and subsequently decreased
6.7% to $3,815,000 in 2012 due to efficiencies gdin

Net cash provided by operating activities incregs@&b from $52,763,000 during 2010 to $55,496,000ng) 2011 primarily due to
increased oil prices and increased oil and nagasalproduction, partially offset by reduced natges prices. During 2012 net cash provided
by operating activities increased 1.7% to $56,424 frimarily due to increased lease bonus incondeodirproduction and prices, partially
offset by reduced natural gas production and prices

Climate Change

Climate change has become the subject of an imiqgsteblic policy debate. In response to climatencfeaconcerns, many foreign
countries are adopting climate change legislatmmhragulations. Although the United States Conghassconsidered adopting climate change
legislation, it has yet to enact such legislatiod/ar regulations at the federal level. Severdkstaave adopted or are considering adopting
climate change legislation. Further, the EnvirontakRrotection Agency (“EPA”) issued greenhousemasitoring and reporting regulations
that went into effect January 1, 2010. Those rdgula required that regulated facilities begin mpg greenhouse gas emissions beginning ir
September 2012, and annually thereafter. The Ef¥falso issued final regulations requiring petnmleund natural gas operators meeting a
certain emission threshold to report their greeskagas emissions to the EPA. In addition to thasmeng and reporting requirements, the
EPA issued an "Endangerment Finding" under Se@i#{a) of the Clean Air Act, concluding greenhogas pollution threatens the public
health and welfare of future generations and hdisated that it will use data collected through itbgorting rules to decide whether to
promulgate future greenhouse gas emission limhs. durrent state of development of many state ederél climate change regulatory
initiatives makes it difficult to predict with caiibty the future impact on us, including accurags§imating the related compliance costs that
the operating partnership and oil and natural gesaiors that develop our properties may incur.

See Item 1A. Risk Factors — “Environmental costs labilities and changing environmental regulatomuld affect our cash flow” and
“The adoption of climate change legislation by C@sg could result in increased operating costgedhaced demand for the oil and natural
gas production from our properties.”

Texas Margin Tax

Texas imposes a franchise tax (commonly referrebtiie Texas margin tax) at a rate of 1% on geanues less certain deductions, as
specifically set forth in the Texas margin tax @tat The Texas margin tax applies to corporatianslianited liability companies, general and
limited partnerships (unless otherwise exempt)itéichliability partnerships, trusts (unless othessvexempt), business trusts, business
associations, professional associations, jointkstompanies, holding companies, joint ventures@arthin other business entities having
limited liability protection.

Limited partnerships that receive at least 90%hefrtgross income from designated passive souiresding royalties from mineral
properties and other non-operated mineral inténesime, and do not receive more than 10% of tineiome from operating an active trade or
business, are generally exempt from the Texas méagias “passive entities.” We believe our Pasdinip meets the requirements for being
considered a “passive entity” for Texas margingarooses and, therefore, it is exempt from the $emargin tax. If the Partnership is exempt
from Texas margin tax as a passive entity, eactholdier that is considered a taxable entity underTtexas margin tax would generally be
required to include its portion of Partnership mrawes in its own Texas margin tax computation. Tagas Administrative Code provides such
income is sourced according to the principal plaideusiness of the Partnership, which would bestage of Texas.

Each unitholder is urged to consult an indepentienadvisor regarding the requirements for filingts income, franchise and Texas
margin tax returns.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Capital Resources

Our primary sources of capital are our cash flamnfithe Royalty Properties and the NPIs. We aralimettly liable for the payment of ai
exploration, development or production costs. Wedibhave any transactions, arrangements or ogfesianships that could materially affect
our liquidity or the sustainability of capital ragces.

Pursuant to the terms of our partnership agreementannot incur indebtedness, other than tradelpes, (i) in excess of $50,000 in the
aggregate at any given time or (ii) which would stitate "acquisition indebtedness" (as definedent®®n 514 of the Internal Revenue Code o
1986, as amended).

Our only cash requirements are the distributiorallafur net cash flow to our unitholders, the paytof oil and natural gas production
and property taxes not otherwise deducted fromsgposduction revenues and general and administratipenses incurred on our behalf and
allocated in accordance with our partnership agesegngince the distributions to our unitholders asedefinition, determined after the
payment of all expenses actually paid by us, tHe cash requirements that may create liquidity @ns for us are the payments of expenses.
Since many of these expenses vary directly witlaod natural gas prices and sales volumes, sugtodsction taxes, we anticipate that
sufficient funds will be available at all times fpayment of these expenses. Of the expenses thadtd@ry with oil and natural gas prices and
sales volumes, most are reimbursements to our glgpertner for allocable general and administratests including home office rent, salar
and employee benefit plans. Such reimbursementgesrerally limited to 5% of an amount primarily bdn annual distributions to our
limited partners. Historically, all such reimbursems have been substantially below the 5% limaldigthed by the partnership agreement.
Consequently, even during the 2008 economic downtwr business risks were essentially limitedistridhution amount decreases. See “ltem
1. Business — Credit Facilities and Financing Plai@ee “Item 1A. Risk Factors — Risks Relatedtio Business — Cash distributions are
affected by production and other costs, some otkwhre outside of our control.” See “ltem 1A. Rigctors — Risks Inherent In An
Investment In Our Common Units — Cost reimburserdeetour general partner may be substantial anetesdur cash available to distribute
to our unitholders." See "Notes to ConsolidatethRcial Statements — Note 3 — Related Party Trénsac'

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no significant off-balance sheet arrangésrtbiat have or are reasonably likely to have sectiror future effect on our
financial condition, changes in financial conditisevenues or expenses, results of operationsditgucapital expenditures or capital
resources that are material to unitholders.

Expenses and Capital Expenditures

Depending upon gas prices, the operating partreephns to continue its efforts to increase proidacin Oklahoma by techniques that
may include fracture treating, deepening, reconmgetand drilling. Costs vary widely and are nagdictable as each effort requires specific
engineering. Such activities by the operating paghip could influence the amount we receive fromNPIs as reflected in the accrual basis
production costs $/mcfe in the table under “Re<fit®perations.”

The operating partnership owns and operates this,vpgbelines and natural gas compression and aatigd facilities on its properties
located in Kansas and Oklahoma. The operating @aattiip does not anticipate incurring significanpexse to replace these facilities at this
time. These capital and operating costs are refieict the NPI payments we receive from the opeggtartnership.

In 1998, Oklahoma regulations removed producticendjty restrictions in the Guymon-Hugoton field adid not address efforts by
third parties to persuade Oklahoma to permit iwfillling in the Guymon-Hugoton field. Infill drithg could require considerable capital
expenditures. The outcome and the cost of suchitéesi are unpredictable and could influence theamh we receive from the NPIs. The
operating partnership believes it now has sufficfesdd compression and permits for vacuum operetar the foreseeable future.

Liquidity and Working Capital

Year-end cash and cash equivalents totaled $18392or 2012, $14,238,000 for 2011, and $11,253f60@010.
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Distributions

Distributions to limited partners and the genewatiper related to cash receipts for the period f@ctober 2011 through December
2012 were as follows:
$ in Thousands

Per Unit Limited General

Year Quarter Record Date Payment Date Amount Partners Partner
2011 4th January 23, 2012 February 2, 2012  $ 0.44855. $ 13,75¢ $ 474
2012 1st April 23, 2012 May 3, 2012 0.54188. 16,62 52t
2012 2nd July 23, 2012 August 2, 2012 0.45635. 13,99¢ 54¢
2012 3rd October 22, 2012 November 1, 201 0.34325. 10,52¢ 412
Total distributions paid in 2012 $ 54,91 $ 1,96(
2012 4th January 22, 2013 February 1, 2013  $ 0.43323. $ 13,29 $ 49¢

In general, the limited partners are allocated @%e Royalty Properties’ net receipts and 99%wfNPI net receipts.
Net Profits Interests

We receive monthly payments from the operatingneaship equal to 96.97% of the net proceeds agttedlized by the operating
partnership from the properties underlying the Rieffits Interests (or “NPIs”). The operating parsiép retains the 3.03% balance of these ne
proceeds. Net proceeds generally reflect grosseprdxattributable to oil and natural gas produdiicimally received during the month less
production costs actually paid during the same mdatoduction costs generally reflect drilling, quetion, operating and general and
administrative costs and exclude depletion, amatitbn and other non-cash costs. The operating ga@tiip made NPI payments to us totaling
$10,495,000 during October 2011 through Septem@&2,2vhich payments reflected 96.97% of total meteeds of $10,823,000 realized fi
September 2011 through August 2012. Net proceedized by the operating partnership during Septertiveugh November 2012 were
reflected in NPI payments made during October thhoDecember 2012. These payments were includdaifourth quarter distribution paid
early 2013 and are excluded from this 2012 analysis

Royalty Properties

Revenues from the Royalty Properties are typiqadligl to us with proportionate severance (produgtiaxes deducted and remitted by
others. Additionally, we generally pay ad valoreaxets, general and administrative costs, and markatid associated costs since royalties
lease bonuses generally do not otherwise bear tipgia similar costs. After deduction of the abalescribed costs including cash reserves,
our net cash receipts from the Royalty Propertigsnd the period October 2011 through Septembe 2@dre $46,375,000, of which
$44,520,000 (96%) was distributed to the limitedmers and $1,855,000 (4%) was distributed to #reegal partner. Proceeds received by us
from the Royalty Properties during the period Oetaiirough December 2012 became part of the fayrénter distribution paid in early 2013,
which is excluded from this 2012 analysis.

Distribution Determinations

The actual calculation of distributions is perfodneach calendar quarter atcordance with our partnership agreement. Theviirtig
calculation covering the period October 2011 thto&gptember 2012 demonstrates the method.

$ In Thousands

Limited General

Partners Partner
4% of Net Cash Receipts from Royalty Properties $ — 3 1,85¢
96% of Net Cash Receipts from Royalty Properties 44,52( —
1% of NPI Payments to our Partnership = 10t
99% of NPI Payments to our Partnership 10,39( —
Total Distributions 54,91( 1,96(
Operating Partnership Share (3.03% of Net Proceeds) — 32¢
Total General Partner Share 2,28¢
% of Total 96% 4%

In summary, our limited partners received 96%, amdgeneral partner received 4% of the net caskrgéd by our activities and
those of the operating partnership during thisqaerDue to these fixed percentages, our genertaigraloes not have any incentive
distribution rights or other right or arrangemdmdttwill increase its percentage share of net gasierated by our activities or those of the



operating partnership.
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During the period October 2011 through Septemb&P26ur Partnership's quarterly distribution payte¢a limited partners were based
on all of its available cash. Our Partnership'y @inificant cash reserves that influenced quigrfgayments were $1,400,000 for ad valorem
taxes. Additionally, certain production costs untter NPI calculation and a small portion of managenexpense reimbursements include
amounts for which funds were set aside monthlynetbée payment when due. Examples are contributm&&EP-IRA accounts and payroll
taxes. These amounts generally are not held foogi®over one year.

Fourth Quarter 2012 Distribution Indicated Price

In an effort to provide information concerning mscof oil and natural gas sales that correspondrtauarterly distributions, management
calculates the weighted average price by dividirggg revenues received by the net volumes of tiregimonding product without regard to the
timing of the production to which such sales maytigbutable. This “indicated price” does not nesaily reflect the contractual terms for
such sales and may be affected by transportatists cocation differentials, and quality and grgatjustments. While the relationship
between the Partnership's cash receipts and tlvggtioh the production of oil and natural gas maydbescribed generally, actual cash receipts
may be materially impacted by purchasers’ reledseispended funds and by prior period adjustments.

Cash receipts attributable to the Partnership'saRpProperties during the 2012 fourth quarterlemtapproximately $12.4 million. These
receipts generally reflect oil sales during Septentbrough November 2012 and natural gas saleagldigust through October 2012. The
weighted average indicated prices for oil and ratgas sales during the 2012 fourth quarter atiliie to the Royalty Properties were
$86.44/bbl and $3.55/mcf.

Cash receipts attributable to the Partnership'sMBting the 2012 fourth quarter totaled approxatya$1.8 million. These receipts
generally reflect oil and natural gas sales fromploperties underlying the NPIs during August tigho October 2012. The weighted average
indicated prices for oil and natural gas salesrdpthe 2012 fourth quarter attributable to the Nifése $88.71/bbl and $2.64/mcf.

General and Administrative Costs

In accordance with our partnership agreement, vae &lé general and administrative and other ovetteegenses subject to certain
limitations. We reimburse our general partner fent&in allocable costs, including rent, wages,riedaand employee benefit plans. This
reimbursement is limited to an amount equal tostima of 5% of our distributions plus certain costsvpusly paid. Through December 31,
2012, the limitation was in excess of the reimbomset amounts actually paid or accrued.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK
The following information provides quantitative agdalitative information about our potential expasuto market risk. The term
"market risk" refers to the risk of loss arisingrfr adverse changes in oil and natural gas pricesgist rates and currency exchange rates.
The disclosures are not meant to be precise iraicatf expected future losses, but rather indisadbipossible losses.
Market Risk Related to Oil and Natural Gas Prices
Essentially all of our assets and sources of incaradrom the Royalty Properties and the NPIs, Wwigienerally entitle us to receive a
share of the proceeds from oil and natural gasymtish on those properties. Consequently, we dsgestito market risk from fluctuations
in oil and natural gas prices. Pricing for oil aratural gas production has been volatile and ungtadule for several years. We do not
anticipate entering into financial hedging actastintended to reduce our exposure to oil and alagiais price fluctuations.
Absence of Interest Rate and Currency Exchange Riake
We do not anticipate having a credit facility ocumring any debt, other than trade debt. Therefoeegdo not expect interest rate risk to

be material to us. We do not anticipate engagirtgaimsactions in foreign currencies which couldasegus to foreign currency related
market risk.

ITEM 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPP LEMENTARY DATA
The consolidated financial statements are set fogtkin commencing on page F-1.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTA NTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Clagécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, fesluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as definediiedRl3a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchangeasaf December 31, 2012. Based on
this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer andi€lFinancial Officer have concluded that, as ot&maber 31, 2012, our disclosure controls
and procedures were effective, in that they enthatinformation required to be disclosed by uthmreports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed, summasarddeported within the time periods specifiethim SEC’s rules and forms, and (2)
accumulated and communicated to our managemehiding our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Final®Officer, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management acknowledges its responsibility forldisthing and maintaining adequate internal corkar financial reporting in
accordance with Rule 13a-15(f) promulgated underfkchange Act. Management has also evaluatedftrwieeness of its internal control
over financial reporting in accordance with gengratcepted accounting principles within the guites of the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission framewBdsed on the results of this evaluation, managehwndetermined that the
Partnership’s internal control over financial repay was effective as of December 31, 2012. Thepetdent registered public accounting firm
of Grant Thornton LLP, as auditors of the Partnigrstfinancial statements included in the AnnuapBe, has issued an attestation report on
the Partnership’s internal control over financeporting.

Changes in Internal Controls

There were no changes in our Partnership’s interoratrol over financial reporting (as defined inl®t3a15(f) of the Securities Exchan
Act of 1934) during the quarter ended Decembe2812, that have materially affected, or are reasigrikely to materially affect, our intern
control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORA TE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item is incorpedherein by reference to the 2013 Proxy Statenadrith will be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission not later tl28ndhys subsequent to December 31, 2012.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorp@dherein by reference to the 2013 Proxy Statenadritch will be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission not later tl2@ndhys subsequent to December 31, 2012.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
UNITHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorpedherein by reference to the 2013 Proxy Statenadrith will be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission not later tl28ndhys subsequent to December 31, 2012.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSAC TIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorpedherein by reference to the 2013 Proxy Statenadrith will be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission not later tl2&ndhys subsequent to December 31, 2012.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorp@dherein by reference to the 2013 Proxy Statenadritch will be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission not later tl2@ndhys subsequent to December 31, 2012.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE S
(@) Financial Statements and Schedules
(1) See the Index to Consolidated Financiatlegtants on page F-1.
(2) No schedules are require

(3) A list of the exhibits required by Item 66fLRegulation S-K to be filed as part of this reps set forth in the Index to
Exhibits beginning on page E-1, which immediatelygedes such exhibits.
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GLOSSARY OF CERTAIN OIL AND NATURAL GAS TERMS

The definitions set forth below shall apply to thdicated terms as used in this document. All vaaraf natural gas referred to herein
are stated at the legal pressure base of themtatea where the reserves exist and at 60 defedgenheit and in most instances are rounded
to the nearest major multiple.

"bbl" means a standard barrel of 42 U.S. gallons an@septs the basic unit for measuring the produatfamude oil, natural gas liquids
and condensate.

"bcf” means one billion cubic feet under prescribed danth of pressure and temperature and represemts for measuring the
production of natural gas.

“boe” means one barrel of oil equivalent, converting redtgas to oil at the ratio of 6 Mcf of natural gasl Bbl of oil.

"Depletion" means (a) the volume of hydrocarbons extracted fxdormation over a given period of time, (b) théerof hydrocarbon
extraction over a given period of time expressed psrcentage of the reserves existing at the begjrof such period, or (c) the amount of
cost basis at the beginning of a period attribwtablthe volume of hydrocarbons extracted durirdnseriod.

"Division order" means a document to protect lessees and purcledgerluction, in which all parties who may havelam to the
proceeds of the sale of production agree upon hevwptoceeds are to be divided.

"Enhanced recovery"means the process or combination of processesdpplia formation to extract hydrocarbons in addito those
that would be produced utilizing the natural eneggigting in that formation. Examples of enhanaatbwery include water flooding and
carbon dioxide (CO2) injection.

"Estimated future net revenue@llso referred to as "estimated future net cash'jloneans the result of applying current pricesibf
and natural gas to estimated future production fodrand natural gas proved reserves, reduced tima®d future expenditures, based on
current costs to be incurred in developing and pecody the proved reserves, excluding overhead.

"Formation" means a distinct geologic interval, sometimes retkto as the strata, which has characteristich(as
permeability, porosity and hydrocarbon saturatidha) distinguish it from surrounding intervals.

"Gross acre"means the number of surface acres in which a worikiterest is owned.

"Gross well" means a well in which a working interest is owned.
"Lease bonus"means the initial cash payment made to a lessarlbgsee in consideration for the execution andeyance of the lease.
"Leasehold" means an acre in which a working interest is owned.

"Lessee'means the owner of a lease of a mineral interestiact of land.

"Lessor" means the owner of the mineral interest who gramésase of his interest in a tract of land to edtpiarty, referred to as the
lessee.

"Mineral interest” means the interest in the minerals beneath thasdf a tract of land. A mineral interest may &eesed from the
ownership of the surface of the tract. Ownership afineral interest generally involves four incitdeaf ownership: (1) the right to use the
surface; (2) the right to incur costs and retaufifs, also called the right to develop; (3) thghtito transfer all or a portion of the mineral
interest; and (4) the right to retain lease besgifitcluding bonuses and delay rentals.

"mcf” means one thousand cubic feet under prescribedtim gdof pressure and temperature and represeatsasic unit for
measuring the production of natural gas.

“mcfe” means one thousand cubic feet of natural gas dgquiya@onverting oil or condensate to natural gaberatio of 1 Bbl of oil or
condensate to 6 Mcf of natural gas. This conversitio, which is typically used in the oil and gadustry, represents the approximate energy
equivalent of a barrel of oil or condensate to asf & natural gas. The sales price of one barre@lilofr condensate has been much higher that
the sales price of six Mcf of natural gas overlt#st several years, so a six to one conversioa dates not represent the economic equivalenc
of six Mcf of natural gas to one barrel of oil @nclensate



"mbbls"means one thousand standard barrels of 42 U.®ngadind represents the basic unit for measuringrthgtuction of crude oil,
natural gas liquids and condensate.

"mmcf” means one million cubic feet under prescribed d@d of pressure and temperature and representsasfic unit for measuring
the production of natural gas.

"Net acre"means the product determined by multiplying grasesby the interest in such acres.
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"Net well"means the product determined by multiplying grakarad natural gas wells by the interest in suchiswve

"Net profits interesttmeans a non-operating interest that creates a shgress production from another (operating or-oparating)
interest in oil and natural gas properties. Theefadetermined by net profits from the sale afduction and customarily provides for the
deduction of capital and operating costs from ttee@eds of the sale of production. The owner ddtgonofits interest is customarily liable for
the payment of capital and operating costs ontp¢cextent that revenue is sufficient to pay suasdtbut not otherwise.

"Operator" means the individual or company responsible foretki@oration, development, and production of aroothatural gas well or
lease.

"Overriding royalty interestmeans a royalty interest created or reserved froothar (operating or non-operating) interest iraoidl
natural gas properties. Its term extends for tineesierm as the interest from which it is created.

“Payout” or “Back-in" occurs when the working interest owners who paudite in the costs of drilling and completing a wetioup the
costs and expenses, or a multiple of the costeapenses, of drilling and completing that well. Yiien are the owners who chose not to
contribute to these initial costs entitled to pap@ate with the other owners in production and shiarthe expenses and revenues associated
with the well. The reversionary interest or backrterest of an owner similarly occurs when the emlmecomes entitled to a specified share
of the working or overriding royalty interest whepecified costs have been recovered from production

"Proved developed reservasitans reserves that can be expected to be recdiettemugh existing wells with existing equipmeantd
operating methods or in which the cost of the negliequipment is relatively minor compared to tostof a new well; and (ii) Through
installed extraction equipment and infrastructyserational at the time of the reserves estimateeiextraction is by means not involving a
well.

"Proved reserves" or “Proved oil and natural gasezves’means those quantities of oil and natural gas, twldg analysis of
geoscience and engineering data, can be estimétedeasonable certainty to be economically proboleei-from a given date forward, from
known reservoirs, and under existing economic dénth, operating methods, and governmental reguisti-prior to the time at which
contracts providing the right to operate expirdeas evidence indicates that renewal is reasorgtgin, regardless of whether deterministic
or probabilistic methods are used for the estinmatibhe project to extract the hydrocarbons musélmmmenced or the operator must be
reasonably certain that it will commence the proyeithin a reasonable time.

"Proved undeveloped reservaaéans proved reserves that are expected to beeraecbfrom new wells on undrilled acreage, or from
existing wells where a relatively major expenditisreequired for recompletion.

"Royalty" means an interest in an oil and natural gas |ldasedives the owner of the interest the right toeiee a portion of the
production from the leased acreage (or of the mds®f the sale thereof) but generally does natireghe owner to pay any portion of the
costs of drilling or operating the wells on thesed acreage.

"Severance taxtheans an amount of tax, surcharge or levy recovgyempvernmental agencies from the gross procekdis and natural
gas sales. Severance tax may be determined asenfsge of proceeds or as a specific amount pamaitic unit of sales. Severance tax is
usually withheld from the gross proceeds of oil aatlral gas sales by the first purchaser (e.gelipie or refinery) of production.

"Standardized measure of discounted future net dasls" (also referred to as "standardized measure") mibangretax present value
of estimated future net revenues to be generatad fine production of proved reserves calculateatoordance with SEC guidelines, net
of estimated production and future developments;asting prices and costs as of the date of estimafithout future escalation, without
giving effect to non-property related expenses agheneral and administrative expenses, debcseswvid depreciation, depletion and
amortization, and discounted using an annual disicaie of 10%.

“Test Rate”means a daily volume of oil, gas or condensatehatiwa well produced to a pipeline or tank battgithin that well’s first
month of production based on information obtairednf public sources or from the operator.

"Undeveloped acreagetieans lease acreage on which wells have not békrdadr completed to a point that would permit the
production of commercial quantities of oil and matigas regardless of whether such acreage corigined reserves.

"Unitization" means the process of combining mineral interesksases thereof in separate tracts of land intogesentity for
administrative, operating or ownership purposestitation is sometimes called "pooling” or "commiigation" and may be voluntary or
involuntary.

"Working interest'{also referred to as an "operating interest") meareal property interest entitling the owner teeiige a specified



percentage of the proceeds of the sale of oil atdral gas production or a percentage of the pitomubut requiring the owner of the
working interest to bear the cost to explore fayalop and produce such oil and natural gas. A ingrinterest owner who owns a portion of
the working interest may participate either as afmror by voting his percentage interest to apprvdisapprove the appointment of an
operator and certain activities in connection wiith development and operation of a property.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized.

Date: February 21, 2013

DORCHESTER MINERALS,
L.P.

By: Dorchester Minerals Management LP,

its general partner

By: Dorchester Minerals
Management GP LLC,
its general partner

By: /s/ William Casey
McManemin
William Casey McManemi
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesEamtiange Act of 1934, this report has been sigméalbby the following persons on

behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities@nthe dates indicated.

/s/ William Casey McManemin

William Casey McManemin

Chief Executive Officer and Manager
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 21, 2013

/sl James E. Raley

James E. Raley
Chief Operating Officer and Manager
Date: February 21, 2013

/sl Preston A. Peak

Preston A. Peak
Manager
Date: February 21, 2013

/s/ Ronald P. Trout

Ronald P. Trout
Manager
Date: February 21, 2013
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Chief Financial Officer and Manager
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/sl Buford P. Berry
Buford P. Berry
Manager

Date: February 21, 2013

Is/ C. W. Russell

C. W. Russell

Manager

Date: February 21, 2013

/sl Robert C. Vaughn

Robert C. Vaughn
Manager
Date: February 21, 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

General Partner and Unitholders
Dorchester Minerals, L.P.

We have audited the internal control over finanglorting of Dorchester Minerals, L.P. (a Delawairaited Partnership) and subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Partnership”) as of December 3012, based on criteria establishethternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of theativay Commission (COSO). The Partnership’s manageis responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting and for its assessment of the effectdss of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanying Managensefitinual Report on Internal Control Over Finan&aborting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Partnership’s internatrobover financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordx@r financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etnadutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiralecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company'’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsafdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Partnership maintained, imaditerial respects, effective internal control deancial reporting as of December 31, 2012,
based on criteria establishedimernal Control—Integrated Frameworgsued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated

financial statements of the Partnership as of Déezr@1, 2012 and our report dated February 21, 2@fpBessed an unqualified opinion on
those financial statements.

/s| GRANT THORNTON LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 21, 2013




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
General Partner and Unitholders
Dorchester Minerals, L.P.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Dorchester Minerals, L.P. (a Delawanited Partnership) and subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Partnership”) as of December 3012 and 2011, and the related consolidated iecztatements, statements of cash flows,
and statements of changes in partnership capitaldoh of the three years in the period ended Dbeefil, 2012. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Partnership's managgn©ur responsibility is to express an opiniortte@se financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on lasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptesiused and significant estimates made by marnageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of Dorchestel
Minerals, L.P. and subsidiaries as of DecembefB12 and 2011, and the results of their operatmastheir cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2012, ifoomity with accounting principles generally acasgin the United States of Americ

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the Partnership's
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2012, based on criteria establishédtémnal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission (COSO) and our repated February 21, 2013 expressed
an unqualified opinion.

/s/ Grant Thornton LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 21, 2013




DORCHESTER MINERALS, L.P.
(A Delaware Limited Partnership)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Dollars in Thousands)

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Net profits interests receivable—related party

Total current assets

Other non-current assets
Property and leasehold improvem«—at cost:

Oil and natural gas properties (full cost method)

Accumulated full cost depletion

Total

Leasehold improvements
Accumulated amortization

Total
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND PARTNERSHIP CAPITAL
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
Current portion of deferred rent incentive
Total current liabilities
Deferred rent incentive less current portion
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 4)
Partnership capital:
General partner
Unitholders
Total partnership capital
Total liabilities and partnership capital

2012 2011
13,79: $ 14,23¢
5,80¢ 6,60:
6,47¢ 7,61¢
26,07 28,45¢

19 19
344,19 344,19
(246,591 (230,06()
97,60: 114,13

512 512

(402) (354)

11C 15¢
123,80 $ 142,76

448 $ 52¢

39 39

487 56¢

50 90

537 65¢
3,62t 4,24:
119,63¢ 137,86!
123,26: 142,11
123,800 $ 142,76




DORCHESTER MINERALS, L.P.
(A Delaware Limited Partnership)

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

For each of the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 20Cdrid 2010

(Dollars in Thousands, except per unit amounts)

Operating revenues:
Royalties
Net profits interests
Lease bonus
Other
Total operating revenues
Costs and expenses:
Production taxes
Operating expenses
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
General and administrative expenses
Total costs and expenses
Operating income
Other income, net
Net income

Allocation of net income:
General Partner

Unitholders
Net income per common unit (basic and dilut

2012 2011 2010
$ 49,237 $ 53,34t $ 45,09t
7,94 15,52¢ 12,04¢
4,53¢ 517 3,81¢
1,482 10z 134
63,20 69,48¢ 61,09:
2,01« 2,43( 1,72¢
2,781 2,44¢ 2,44
16,58 18,34¢ 17,98¢
3,81¢ 4,08¢ 4,12¢
25,19¢ 27,31: 26,28’
38,01 42,17¢ 34,80"
11 37 7€
$ 38,02: $ 42,218 $ 34,88:
$ 1,340 $ 1,35¢ $ 1,15i
$ 36,67¢ $ 40,85¢ $ 33,72¢
$ 1.2C $ 13 $ 1.11
30,67¢ 30,67¢ 30,46¢

Weighted average common units outstanding (000's)




DORCHESTER MINERALS, L.P.
(A Delaware Limited Partnership)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For each of the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 20Cdrid 2010
(Dollars in Thousands)

2012 2011 2010
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 38,02: $ 42,21 $ 34,88

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating

activities:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization 16,58: 18,34¢ 17,98¢
Amortization of deferred rent incentive (40) (39 (40

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Trade and other receivables 79€ (1,059 (229

Net profits interests receivable — related party 1,14¢ (3,965 52

Accounts payable and other current liabilities (81) (9) 9
Net cash provided by operating activit 56,42¢ 55,49¢ 52,76
Cash flows from investing activities:

Adjustment related to acquisition of oil and natgas properties — — 683

Capital expenditures for property and leaseholdavwgments — (6) (119)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi — (6) 564
Cash flows from financing activities:

Distributions paid to partners (56,87() (52,50°%) (52,199
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (44¢) 2,98t 1,12¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 14,23t 11,25: 10,12«
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 13,79: $ 14,23¢ $ 11,25
Non-Cash investing and financing activities

Value of units issued for natural gas propertiepuaed — — $ 17,68¢




DORCHESTER MINERALS, L.P.
(A Delaware Limited Partnership)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PARTNERSHIP C APITAL
For the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and P01
(Dollars in Thousands)

General Unitholder

Year Partner Unitholders Total Units
2010

Balance at January 1, 2010 $ 524C $ 146,79: $ 152,03: 29,840,43

Net income 1,157 33,72¢ 34,88:

Acquisition of assets for uni — 17,68¢ 17,68¢ 835,0(

Distributions ($1.654050 per Unit) (1,72¢) (50,470 (52,199

Balance at December 31, 2010 4,66¢ 147,73: 152,40: 30,675,43
2011

Net income 1,35¢ 40,85¢ 42,21t

Distributions ($1.65339 per Unit) (1,786 (50,719 (52,50%)

Balance at December 31, 2011 4,247 137,86¢ 142,11. 30,675,43
2012

Net income 1,343 36,67¢ 38,02:

Distributions ($1.790039 per Unit) (1,960 (54,910 (56,870

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 3,628 $ 119,63¢ $ 123,26: 30,675,43

F-7




DORCHESTER MINERALS, L.P.
(A Delaware Limited Partnership)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010

1. General and Summary of Significant Accounting Plicies

Nature of Operations— In these Notes, the term “Partnership,” as welihe terms “us,” “our,” “we,” and “its” are sometés used as
abbreviated references to Dorchester Minerals, itsBlf or Dorchester Minerals, L.P. and its rethémtities. Our Partnership is a Dallas,
Texas based owner of producing and nonproducingalagas and crude oil royalty, net profits, araskhold interests in 574 counties and 25
states. We are a publicly traded Delaware limitednership that was formed in December 2001, antheenced operations on January 31,
2003.

Basis of Presentation -Per-unit information is calculated by dividing thet income applicable to holders of our Partnefslipmmon
units by the weighted average number of units antihg. The Partnership has no potentially dilusgeurities and, consequently, basic and
dilutive net income per unit do not differ.

Principles of Consolidation —Fhe consolidated financial statements include twants of Dorchester Minerals, L.P., Dorchestendvils
Oklahoma, LP, Dorchester Minerals Oklahoma GP, M&ecenas Minerals LLP, and Dorchester-MaecenakL@P All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have beeimaled in consolidation.

Estimates —The preparation of financial statements in conformityhwaccounting principles generally accepted inlinited States of
America requires management to make estimatessmuningptions that affect the reported amounts otsissel liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date efdbnsolidated financial statements and the rep@n@ounts of revenues and expenses durin
reporting period. For example, estimates of unctéle revenues and unpaid expenses from royaltees@inprofits interests in properties
operated by non-affiliated entities are particylatibjective due to our inability to gain accuratel timely information. Therefore, actual
results could differ from those estimates. Searilte Business — Customers and Pricing” and “lterfPPoperties — Royalty Properties” for
additional discussion.

The discounted present value of our proved oilrzattdral gas reserves is a major component of tiiagéest calculation and requires
many subjective judgments. Estimates of resene&soaecasts based on engineering and geologichlsasa Different reserve engineers could
reach different conclusions as to estimated questif oil and natural gas reserves based on the g&ormation. The passage of time
provides more qualitative and quantitative inforimategarding reserve estimates, and revisionsna@e to prior estimates based on updated
information. However, there can be no assurandentbge significant revisions will not be necessiarthe future. Significant downward
revisions could result in an impairment represgnéimon-cash charge to income. In addition torigaict on the calculation of the ceiling test,
estimates of proved reserves are also a major coempof the calculation of depletion. See the disan undeOil and Natural Gas
Properties.

General Partner—Our general partner is Dorchester Minerals ManagemBntéferred to in these Notes as “our general paftOur
general partner owns all of the partnership intsresDorchester Minerals Operating LP, the opagatiartnership. See Note-3Related
Party Transactions. The general partner is allocd% and 1% of our Royalty Properties’ revenuesMedProfits Interest (or “NPI”)
revenues, respectively. Our executive officeroath an interest in our general partner and receiveompensation for services provided as
officers of our Partnership.

Cash and Cash EquivalentsSur principal banking relationships are with major fic#l institutions. Cash balances in these accounts
may, at times, exceed federally insured limits. Me@e not experienced any losses in such cash ascana do not believe we are exposed to
any significant risk on cash and cash equivaleéstert term investments with a maturity of three theror less are considered to be cash
equivalents and are carried at cost, which appratémfair value.

Concentration of Credit Risks©ur Partnership, as a royalty owner, has no controt theevolumes or method of sale of oil and natural
gas produced and sold from the Royalty PropertiesNPIs. It is believed that the loss of any sir@lstomer would not have a material
adverse effect on the consolidated results of perations.

Fair Value of Financial InstrumentsFhe carrying amount of cash and cash equivalemtde treceivables and payables approximates fai
value because of the short maturity of those insémts. These estimated fair values may not be septative of actual values of the financial
instruments that could have been realized as aofeed or that will be realized in the future.



Receivables—Our Partnership’s trade and other receivables anconoéits interests receivable consist primarily afyRlty Properties
payments receivable and NPI payments receivaldpentively. Most payments are received two to faanths after production date. No
allowance for doubtful accounts is deemed necedsasgd upon our lack of historical write offs aadiew of current receivables.
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DORCHESTER MINERALS, L.P.
(A Delaware Limited Partnership)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010

Oil and Natural Gas Properties -We utilize the full cost method of accounting faists related to our oil and natural gas properties.
Under this method, all such costs are capitalizetlaanortized on an aggregate basis over the estiniges of the properties using the
units-of-production method. These capitalized castssubject to a ceiling test, which limits spdoled costs to the aggregate of the
present value of future net revenues attributabjeréved oil and natural gas reserves discount&é%itplus the lower of cost or market
value of unproved properties. Our Partnership didassign any value to unproved properties, indgdionproducing royalty, mineral and
leasehold interests. The full cost ceiling is eatdd at the end of each quarter and when everitatedossible impairment. There have
been no impairments for the years 2012, 2011, 840.2

While the quantities of proved reserves requirestariial judgment, the associated prices of oil mattiral gas reserves that are included
in the discounted present value of our reserveslgjectively determined. The ceiling test calcdatrequires use of the unweighted arithmetic
average of the first day of the month price dutimg 12-month period ending on the balance sheetatat costs in effect as of the last day of
the accounting period, which are generally heldstamt for the life of the properties. As a resihig present value is not necessarily an
indication of the fair value of the reserves. Qitlanatural gas prices have historically been Velatind the prevailing prices at any given time
may not reflect our Partnership’s or the industfgi®cast of future prices.

Our Partnership’s properties are being depletethemnit-of-production method using estimates of/pd oil and natural gas reserves.
Gains and losses are recognized upon the dispositioil and natural gas properties involving anffigant portion (greater than 25%) of our
Partnership’s reserves. Proceeds from other disposiof oil and natural gas properties are creditethe full cost pool. No gains or losses
have been recorded for 2012, 2011 or 2010.

Due to the nature of our interests, we have noogapbry wells or associated costs pending detetinimsand no exploratory well costs
were charged to expense for the years 2012, 204 2@10.

Leasehold Improvements keasehold improvements include $415,000 receiv&d4 as an incentive in our office space leasesand
offset in liabilities as deferred rent. Leasehaighrovements are amortized over the shorter of #wimated useful lives or the related lease
life of 10 years. For leases with renewal periadh@ Partnership’s option, we have used the aaidaase term, excluding renewal option
periods to determine useful life. Deferred rertieing amortized to general and administrative egpaver the same term as the leasehold
improvements, which is 10 years.

Asset Retirement Obligatiors Based on the nature of our property ownershiphaxee no material obligation required to be recdrde

Revenue Recognitiea- The pricing of oil and natural gas sales frénve Royalty Properties and NPIs is primarily detexi by
supply and demand in the marketplace and can fitettonsiderably. As a royalty owner, we have ex#lg limited involvement and
operational control over the volumes and methoshdd of oil and natural gas produced and sold tterRoyalty Properties and non-
operated NPIs.

Revenues from Royalty Properties and non-operateld Bre recorded under the cash receipts appreadineztly received from the
remitters’ statement accompanying the revenue cl&ioke the revenue checks are generally receiveda four months after the production
month, the Partnership accrues for revenue eamiedab received by estimating production volumed product prices.

Income Taxes -We are treated as a partnership for income tax pugpasé, as a result, our income or loss is inclueabthe tax returns
of the individual unitholders. Depletion of oil andtural gas properties is an expense allowaldadth individual partner, and the depletion
expense as reported on the consolidated finareigments will not be indicative of the depletiogpense an individual partner or unitholder
may be able to deduct for income tax purposes.

Texas imposes a franchise tax (commonly referrextthhe Texas margin tax) at a rate of 1% on gexsmnues less certain deductions, as
specifically set forth in the Texas margin taxstat The Texas margin tax applies to corporationslianited liability companies, general and
limited partnerships (unless otherwise exempt)itéichliability partnerships, trusts (unless othessvexempt), business trusts, business
associations, professional associations, jointkstompanies, holding companies, joint ventures@arthin other business entities having
limited liability protection.

Limited partnerships that receive at least 90%hefrtgross income from designated passive souirgading royalties from mineral
properties and other non-operated mineral inténesime, and do not receive more than 10% of tineinine from operating an active trade or



business, are generally exempt from the Texas méagias “passive entities.” We believe our Pasinip meets the requirements for
being considered a “passive entity” for Texas matgk purposes and, therefore, it is exempt froenTtexas margin tax. If the Partnership is
exempt from Texas margin tax as a passive entigh @nitholder that is considered a taxable entier the Texas margin tax would gener
be required to include its portion of Partnerslgipenues in its own Texas margin tax computatiom. Téxas Administrative Code provides
such income is sourced according to the princifsdeoof business of the Partnership, which woulthieestate of Texas.
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DORCHESTER MINERALS, L.P.
(A Delaware Limited Partnership)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010

2. Acquisition for Units

We have an effective shelf registration statemerffarm S-4 registering 5,000,000 common units ey be offered and issued by the
Partnership from time to time in connection witsetsacquisitions or other business combinatiors&etions. On March 31, 2010, Dorchester
Minerals, LP and a newly formed subsidiary acquakaf the outstanding partnership interests irebtnas Minerals, LLP, a Texas limited
liability partnership that owns producing and narrcing mineral and royalty interests located irstétes, in exchange for 835,000 common
units of Dorchester Minerals, L.P. valued at $13,680 and issued pursuant to the shelf registratiatement. The Consolidated Balance
Sheets presented include $17,121,000 in propedijiads as well as other assets and liabilitieuaeq. After the issuance, 2,565,000 units
remain available under the shelf registration statat.

3. Related Party Transactions

Our general partner owns all of the partnershieregts in the operating partnership. It is the eg®al of all personnel, owns the working
interests and other properties underlying our N&ts, provides day-to-day operational and admirtisga&ervices to us and the general
partner. In accordance with our partnership agreémee reimburse the general partner for certdoctable general and administrative costs,
including rent, salaries, and employee benefit pldmese types of reimbursements are limited tab8listributions, plus certain costs
previously paid. All such costs have been belows¥telimit amount for the years ended December 81222011, and 2010. Additionally,
certain reimbursable direct costs such as profeakand regulatory fees and ad valorem and sevetanes are not limited. Significant
activity between the partnership and the operatangnership consists of the following:

In Thousands
From/To Operating Partnership 2012 2011 2010

Net Profits Interests Payments Receivable or Aat(®) $ 6,472 $ 7,61¢ $ 3,651
Interest Income related to Net Profits InterestgniRents $ — $ — $ 2
General & Administrative Amounts (Receivable) Pdgab $ (56) $ 105 $ 121
General & Administrative Amounts Accrued $ 6 $ 67 $ 45
Total General & Administrative Amounts $ 2,35¢ $ 2,61€ $ 2,47:

@ All Net Profits Interests income on the financigtements is from the operating partnership.

4. Commitments and Contingencies

In January 2002, some individuals and an assoniatied Rural Residents for Natural Gas Rightsldd@rchester Hugoton, Ltd., along
with several other operators in Texas County, Qixiaé regarding the use of natural gas from the virellesidences. The operating partnershiy
now owns and operates the properties formerly ovinyeBorchester Hugoton. These properties contribigignificant portion of the NPI
amounts paid to us. On April 9, 2007, plaintifier immaterial costs, dismissed with prejudice llmas against the operating partnership
regarding such residential gas use. On Octobed@¥4,2he plaintiffs filed severed claims againgt tiperating partnership regarding royalty
underpayments, which the Texas County District €subsequently dismissed with a grant of time fder@d. On January 27, 2006, one of the
original plaintiffs again sued the operating parsh@ for underpayment of royalty, seeking clagtoaccertification. On October 1, 2007, the
Texas County District Court granted the operatiagrership’s motion for summary judgment findingrmgalty underpayments.
Subsequently, the District Court denied the plfistinotion for reconsideration, and the plainfifed an appeal. On March 31, 2010, the
appeal decision reversed and remanded to the Taxasty District Court to resolve material issuesaat. On June 30, 2011, the District
Court issued a revised partial summary judgmefavnr of the operating partnership. On April 2812, the parties successfully mediated
terms for a settlement in the amount of $500,008 phmaterial future royalty amounts on fuel gabe settlement was approved by the
District Court on October 18, 2012. A $500,00Crgs was recorded in Net Profits Revenues on ttanfiial statements in the first quarter of
2012. During December 2012 the operating partnensaid the settlement amount and the litigation diamissed.

Our Partnership and the operating partnershipra@ied in other legal and/or administrative pratiegs arising in the ordinary course of
their businesses, none of which have predictabieootes and none of which are believed to have gmjfisant effect on consolidated
financial position, cash flows, or operating result




DORCHESTER MINERALS, L.P.
(A Delaware Limited Partnership)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010

Operating Leases-We have entered into a non-cancelable, renewalgieeaailing rate for an additional five years, aiarg lease
agreement in the ordinary course of our businegitas. The lease is for our office space at 388 Lawn Avenue, Suite 300, Dallas,
Texas, and expires in 2015. Rental expense relateé lease, including operating expenses anducapison of electricity, was $235,000,
$233,000, and $226,000 for the years ended Decedih@012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The baseeszalated in November 2010.
Minimum rental commitments under the terms of querating lease are as follows:

Minimum
Years Ended December 31, Payments
2013 $ 249,00(
2014 261,00(
2015 65,00(
Total $ 575,00(
5. Distribution To Holders Of Common Units
Unitholder cash distributions per common unit hbgen: Per Unit Amount
2012 2011 2010
First Quarter $ 0.54188: $ 0.42674! $ 0.44922:
Second Quarter $ 0.45635. $ 0.41702° $ 0.41220°
Third Quarter $ 0.34325; $ 0.45554( $ 0.47108:
Fourth Quarter $ 0.43323. $ 0.44855. $ 0.35407-

Distributions beginning with the first quarter @D were paid on 30,675,431 units. Fourth quaiistridutions are paid in February of
the following calendar year to unitholders of retor January or February of such following yeare Partnership agreement requires the
next cash distribution to be paid by May 15, 2013.




DORCHESTER MINERALS, L.P.
(A Delaware Limited Partnership)

Supplemental Oil and Natural Gas Data
(Unaudited)
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010
Unaudited Oil and Natural Gas Reserve and Standardied Measure Information

The NPIs represent net profits overriding royattierests in various properties owned by the opegatartnership. The Royalty Properties
consist of producing and nonproducing mineral, kyyaverriding royalty, net profits, and leasehaiterests located in 574 counties and
parishes in 25 states. Amounts set forth hereiibataible to the NPIs reflect our 96.97% net sh@itee estimated quantities at the end of 2011
included for the first time 5,888 mmcf of naturalsgand 223 mbbls of oil which is 96.97% of the Mate NPI reserves. At the end of 2012,
96.97% of the Minerals NPI reserves were 5,579 nowhofatural gas and 244 mbbls of oil. Although restivity has occurred on certain of
the Royalty Properties, based on engineering sfuadiailable to date, no events have occurred §ecember 31, 2012 that would have a
material effect on our estimated proved developsénves.

In accordance with FASB ASC 932 and SecuritiesExchange Commission rules and regulations, theviatig information is
presented with regard to the Royalty PropertiesNiAts oil and natural gas reserves, all of whidhmoved, developed and located in the
United States. These rules require inclusion agpplement to the basic financial statements a araliwbd measure of discounted future net
cash flows relating to proved oil and natural geserves. The standardized measure, in managempgintisn, should be examined with
caution. The basis for these disclosures are getnolengineers’ reserve studies which contain inigeesstimates of quantities and rates of
production of reserves. Revision of prior yearreates can have a significant impact on the restils, exploration and production
improvement costs in one year may significantlyngeaprevious estimates of proved reserves andvhkiation. Values of unproved
properties and anticipated future price and caseimses or decreases are not considered. Therfergandardized measure is not
necessarily a best estimate of the fair value Icdirdl natural gas properties or of future net dbshs.

The following summaries of changes in reservessiadardized measure of discounted future netftash were prepared from
estimates of proved reserves. The production voduamel reserve volumes included for properties fdgnmvned by Dorchester Hugoton are
wellhead volumes, which differ from sales volumiewn in “ltem 7. — Management's Discussion and #sialof Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” because of fuel, shrinkagkmpeline loss. The Standardized Measure of Distad Future Net Cash Flows reflects
adjustments for such fuel, shrinkage and pipeliss.|

Qil (mbbls) Natural Gas (mmcf)
2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
Estimated quantity, beginning of year 3,56¢ 3,33¢ 3,27 66,96 61,67¢ 60,28(
Purchase of minerals in place — — 15¢ — — 1,16:
Revisions in previous estimatés 52C 60C 23C 8,02¢ 15,767 8,99:¢
Production (439) (367) (332) (10,84¢) (10,487 (8,757)
Estimated quantity, end of year 3,64 3,56¢ 3,33: 64,14: 66,96 61,67¢

(M) Changes in oil reserves for the year ended DeceBhe2010 include an upward revision of 230 mbhézipminately due to
ongoing development on our Royalty Properties aalll performance exceeding previous projectiongainous areas. Changes in oil
reserves for the year ended December 31, 2011de@n upward revision of 600 mbbls predominately @uthe inclusion of the
Minerals NPI reserves, ongoing development on ayaRy Properties and well performance exceedingvipus projections in various
areas. Changes in oil reserves for the year ebdedmber 31, 2012 include an upward revision of aB0Ils predominantly due to
increased activity on our Bakken Shale propertiegoing development on our Royalty Properties aall performance
exceeding previous projections in various areas.

Changes in natural gas reserves for the year dbdeeémber 31, 2010 include an upward revision c38 /@ mcf predominately due
to ongoing development on our Royalty Propertiesaall performance exceeding previous projectiongarious areas. Changes in
natural gas reserves for the year ended Decembh@031 include an upward revision of 15,767 mmefdaminately due to the inclusion
of the Minerals NPI reserves and increased actositypur Fayetteville Shale and Barnett Shale ptggser Changes in natural gas
reserves for the year ended December 31, 2012de@n upward revision of 8,024 mmcf predominatelg tb ongoing development on
our Royalty Properties and well performance exaggdirevious projections in various areas, despéeegative impact of low natural
gas prices.
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DORCHESTER MINERALS, L.P.
(A Delaware Limited Partnership)

Supplemental Oil and Natural Gas Data
(Unaudited)
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cashlows

(Dollars in Thousands Except Where Noted)

2012 2011 2010

Future estimated gross revenues $ 442,85¢ $ 537,38¢ $ 459,36!
Future estimated production costs (30,179 (32,879 (28,439
Future estimated net revenues 412,68« 504,51! 430,93:
10% annual discount for estimated timing of caslvi (200,990 (242,92) (211,32
Standardized measure of discounted future estinmdedash flows $ 211,69 $ 261,59 $ 219,60¢
Sales of oil and natural gas produced, net of prtidiu costs $ (52,389 $ (63,999 $ (52,970
Purchase of reserves in place — — 8,80¢
Net changes in prices and production ¢ (55,669 13,34( 56,75
Revisions of previous quantity estimates 35,91 67,65¢ 27,89¢
Accretion of discount . 26,15¢ 21,96 16,60¢
Change in production rate and other (3,916 3,02( (3,510

Net change in standardized measure of discountadefestimated net

cash flows $ (49,896 $ 41,98. $ 53,57«
Depletion of oil and natural gas properties (dsllaer mcfe) $ 1.2 $ 1.44 % 1.67
Property acquisition costs $ — $ — $ 17,12:
Average oil price per barré) $ 91.1¢ $ 9231 $ 75.5¢€
Average natural gas price per nfef $ 26z $ 40C $ 4.1¢€

(1)Includes Royalty and NPI prices combined by wudtric proportions.
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DORCHESTER MINERALS, L.P.
(A Delaware Limited Partnership)

Supplemental Quarterly Data

(Unaudited)

December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010

Unaudited Quarterly Financial Data

Quarterly financial data for the last two yearstfinusands except per unit data) is summarizedliasvk:
2012 Quarter Ended

2011 Quarter Ended

March March
31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31
Total operating revenues $ 13,43¢ $ 1524: $ 14,30¢ $ 20,22. $ 14,28¢ $ 16,43¢ $ 18,32t $ 20,44(
Net income $ 729 $ 868 $ 812¢ $ 1391t $ 7,74C $ 9,77C $ 11,50¢ $ 13,19¢
Net income per Unit (basic and dilute $ 0.2 $ 027 $ 02 $ 044 $ 022 $ 031 $ 03¢ $ 04z
Weighted average common units
outstanding 30,67¢ 30,67¢ 30,67¢ 30,67¢ 30,67t 30,67¢ 30,67¢ 30,67¢
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23.1*

Certificate of Limited Partnership of Dorcles¥linerals, L.P. (incorporated by reference toiBitt8.1 to Dorchester Minerals’
Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registratiombler 333-88282)

Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited PartigrdfiDorchester Minerals, L.P. (incorporated bference to Exhibit 3..
to Dorchester Minerals’ Annual Report on Form 1@eKthe year ended December 31, 2002)

Certificate of Limited Partnership of Dorched¥linerals Management LP (incorporated by refezdndExhibit 3.4 to
Dorchester Minerals’ Registration Statement on F8rh, Registration Number 333-88282)

Amended and Restated Agreement of Limitedneship of Dorchester Minerals Management LP (ipomated by reference
to Exhibit 3.4 to Dorchester Minerals’ Annual Reppon Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 002

Certificate of Formation of Dorchester Minsrtlanagement GP LLC (incorporated by referencextalit 3.7 to Dorchester
Minerals’ Registration Statement on Form S-4, Regfion Number 333-88282)

Amended and Restated Limited Liability Comp&gyeement of Dorchester Minerals Management GP (ih€orporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.6 to Dorchester Minerals’ndal Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Decer@be2002)
Certificate of Formation of Dorchester Miner@lperating GP LLC (incorporated by reference thikix 3.10 to Dorchester
Minerals’ Registration Statement on Form S-4, Reagfion Number 333-88282)

Limited Liability Company Agreement of DorchesMinerals Operating GP LLC (incorporated by refece to Exhibit 3.11
to Dorchester Minerals’ Registration Statement omiS-4, Registration Number 333-88282)

Certificate of Limited Partnership of Dorchexdtlinerals Operating LP (incorporated by referetacExhibit 3.12 to Dorchester
Minerals’ Registration Statement on Form S-4, Regfion Number 333-88282)

Amended and Restated Agreement of Limite¢thBeship of Dorchester Minerals Operating LP (ipowated by reference to
Exhibit 3.10 to Dorchester Minerals’ Annual RepontForm 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002)

Certificate of Limited Partnership of Dorchestemiials Oklahoma LP (incorporated by reference tuitk3.11 to Dorcheste
Minerals’ Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2002)

Agreement of Limited Partnership of DorcheMeerals Oklahoma LP (incorporated by refererm&shibit 3.12 to
Dorchester Minerals’ Annual Report on Form 10-K tlee year ended December 31, 2002)

Certificate of Incorporation of Dorchestemidials Oklahoma GP, Inc. (incorporated by refereadexhibit 3.13 to Dorchester
Minerals’ Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2002)

Bylaws of Dorchester Minerals Oklahoma G, (mcorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.14 tadhester Minerals’

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Dduen31, 2002)

Amended and Restated Business Opportunitieseinent dated as of December 13, 2001 by and betihie Registrant, the
General Partner, Dorchester Minerals ManagementIGR SAM Partners, Ltd., Vaughn Petroleum, Ltd.,iBmillen Oil &
Gas, Inc., P.A. Peak, Inc., James E. Raley, Imdl cartain other parties (incorporated by referéadexhibit 10.1 to
Dorchester Minerals’ Annual Report on Form 10-K tlee year ended December 31, 2002)

Transfer Restriction Agreement (incorpordigdeference to Exhibit 10.2 to Dorchester MinérAlsnual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002)

Registration Rights Agreement (incorporatgddierence to Exhibit 10.3 to Dorchester Miner@shual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2002)

Lock-Up Agreement by William Casey McManertincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Daster Minerals’

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddmen31, 2002)

Form of Indemnity Agreement (incorporated-dference to Exhibit 10.1 to Dorchester Mineralsia@erly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004)

Contribution and Exchange Agreement dated Maig 2010 by and among Dorchester Minerals, IDBdge Jones
Foundation, The Legett Foundation, Kickapoo SpriRgsndation, The Karakin Foundation, Still WateuRdation, Xettam
Minerals, L.P., 2MW Limited Partnership, Julia Jsméatthews, Trustee of the Julia Jones Matthewmgifrust, and John A.
Matthews, Jr. (incorporated by reference to ExHiBitl to Dorchester Minerals' Report on Foi-K (filed on April 6, 2010).

Subsidiaries of the Registre
Consent of Grant Thornton LL
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23.2* Consent of Calhoun, Blair & Associates

23.3* Consent of LaRoche Petroleum Consultants, Lt

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer olur Partnership pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of #mmuBties Exchange Act of 1934
31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer a@ur Partnership pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of #muBties Exchange Act of 1934
32.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer drChief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SER50

99.1* Report of Calhoun, Blair & Associates

99.2* Report of LaRoche Petroleum Consultants, Ltd

101.INS** XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH**  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL**  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Libkse Document
101.DEF**  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Doaent

101.LAB**  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbag®ocument
101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentationkbase Document

*  Filed herewith
** Furnished herewith



Subsidiaries of Registrant
Dorchester Minerals Oklahoma LP, an Oklahommétdid partnership

Dorchester Minerals Oklahoma GP, Inc., an Qixla& corporation

Maecenas Minerals LLP, a Texas limited liapiprtnership

Dorchester-Maecenas GP LLC, a Texas limitdallitg company

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our reports dated February 21, 20itl3,respect to the consolidated financial stateimi@nd internal control over financ
reporting included in in the Annual Report of Doester Minerals, L.P. on Form X0or the year ended December 31, 2012. We ht

consent to the incorporation by reference of sajubrts in the Registration Statement of Dorchedlieerals, L.P. on Form S-4 (File No. 33-
124544).

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 21, 2013



Exhibit 23.2

CALHOUN, BLAIR & A SSOCIATES
PETROLEUM CONSULTANTS
4625 REENVILLE AVENUE, SUITE 102
DALLAS, TExAs 75206
214-522-4925
Fax 214-346-0310
RGBLAIR (@SWBELL .NET

February 19, 2013

Dorchester Minerals, L.P.
3838 Oak Lawn Avenue, Suite 300
Dallas, Texas 75219-4541

Gentlemen:

Calhoun, Blair & Associates does hereby consettigdancorporation by reference in the Registraitstement on Form S-4 (No. 333
124544) of Dorchester Minerals, L.P. of our estidateserves included in this Annual Report on F&G¥ including, without limitation
Exhibit 99.1, and to all references to our firmlited in this Annual Report.

/s/ Robert G. Blair, P.E.

Calhoun, Blair & Associate
Licensed Professional Engine

State of Texas #680¢



Exhibit 23.3

LaRoche Petroleum Consultants, Lid.

February 18, 201

Dorchester Minerals L.P.
3838 Oak Lawn Avenue, Suite 300
Dallas, Texas 75219-4541

Gentlemen:

LaRoche Petroleum Consultants, Ltd. does herebgertrio the incorporation by reference in the Regfisn Statement on Form S-4
(No. 333-124544) of Dorchester Minerals, L.P. of estimated reserves included in the Annual Regeted January 17, 2013, for the year
ended December 31, 2012, on Form 10-K includinghauit limitation, Exhibit 99.2, and to all referescto our firm included in this Annual
Report.

LAROCHE PETROLEUM CONSULTANTS, LTD.

/s/ Joe A. Young
Joe A. Young
Partner




Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
[, William Casey McManemin, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fOorchester Minerals, L.P.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadomny untrue statement of a material fact ontdmnstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoige designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepared

b) Designed such internal control over finanogdarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargading the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles.

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentiulsi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the controls and proceduiesf ¢he end of the period covered by this repased on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer antadve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 21, 2013 s/ William Casey McManemin
William Casey McManemin
Chief Executive Officer of
Dorchester Minerals Management GP LLC,
The General Partner of Dorchester Minerals Manageine
The General Partner of Dorchester Minerals, L.P.




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, H.C. Allen, Jr., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fOorchester Minerals, L.P.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadomny untrue statement of a material fact ontdmstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoige designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepared

b) Designed such internal control over finanogdarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargading the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles.

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentiulsi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the controls and proceduiesf ¢he end of the period covered by this repased on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andadve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 21, 2013 /sl H.C. Allen, Jr.
H.C. Allen, Jr.
Chief Financial Officer of
Dorchester Minerals Management GP LLC,
The General Partner of Dorchester Minerals Manageine
The General Partner of Dorchester Minerals, L.P.
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the accompanying Annual RepbiDorchester Minerals, L.P., (the “Partnership”)eorm 10K for the period ende
December 31, 2012 (the “Report”), each of the usigaed officers of Dorchester Minerals ManagemeRtLGC, General Partner of
Dorchester Minerals Management LP, General Padfttre Partnership, hereby certifies that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m
780(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgesents, in all material respects, the finaraaldition and results of operations of
the Partnership.

Date: February 21, 2013 s/ William Casey McManemin

William Casey McManemin
Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 21, 2013 /sl H.C. Allen, Jr.

H.C. Allen, Jr.
Chief Financial Officer
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CALHOUN, BLAIR & A SSOCIATES
PETROLEUM CONSULTANTS
4625 REENVILLE AVENUE, SUITE 102
DALLAS, TExAs 75206
(214) 522-4925
FAcsIMILE : (214) 346-0310
RGBLAIR @SWBELL .NET

January 17, 2013

Dorchester Minerals Operating GP LLC
General Partner

3838 Oak Lawn Avenue, Suite 300
Dallas, Texas 75219-4541

Gentlemen:

In accordance with your instructions we have pregarstimates of oil and gas reserves from certeehold and royalty intere
owned by Dorchester Minerals Operating LP, whichsist of properties grouped by Hugoton NPI, RemublPI, Spinnaker NP1, Maecet
NPI, Minerals NPI and Bradley NPI. We have pragelcour estimates of future oil and gas productiomually, as of January 1, 2013, for tF
properties. This report includes 100% of the aill gas reserves owned by Dorchester Minerals QpgratP, all of which are located in 1
contiguous United States. This report was prepswegtovide Dorchester Minerals Operating LP wigc&ities and Exchange Commiss
compliant reserve estimates.

Information necessary for the preparation of trestamates was obtained from records furnished by liaster Minerals Operating L
from records on file with the state regulatory lesdiand from our own files No special tests were obtained to assist in thpguagion of thi
report. For the purpose of this report, the indlil well tests and production information as régubrin the records on filewith the stat
regulatory bodies were accepted as representegthirgwith all other factual data provided by Daster Minerals Operating LP, including
extent and character of the interest appraised.

The following table contains the estimated netmeseand revenues attributable to the propertypgdbat are currently in pay ste
as of January 1, 2013.

Hugoton NPI Republic NPI Spinaker NPI Maecenas NPI

Net Oil Reserves, BB 0 34,75( 23C 5,03(
Net Gas Reserves, MMC 21,714.22 370.39( 56.16( 97.03(
Net Products Reserves, MMCI 0 92.26( 19.93( 58.60(
Net Oil and Gas Revenue 53,094,22 4,611,85! 250,26( 965,23(
Net Operating Expense, 38,470,27 1,042,711 75,57( 195,92(
Net Taxes, ¢ 4,406,16! 451,61( 14,93( 79,14(
Net Capital Costs, 230,00( 0 0 0
Net Income, ¢ 9,987,79! 3,117,52i 159,76( 690,17(

Net Present Worth at 10%. 7,400,53! 2,088,60:! 112,79( 452,21(
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Minerals NPI Bradley NPI Total
Net Oil Reserves, BB 251,98 13,98( 305,97(
Net Gas Reserves, MMC 5,170.18! 48.90( 27,456.88
Net Products Reserves, MMCI 583.27( 5.13( 759.19(
Net Oil and Gas Revenue 37,133,80 1,584,37! 97,639,73
Net Lease Operating Expense 11,124,77 357,73( 51,266,97
Net Taxes, ¢ 3,125,12 120,26( 8,197,22
Net Capital Costs, 0 0 230,00(
Net Income, ¢ 22,883,91 1,106,39I 37,945,54
Net Present Worth at 10%, 15,645,54 847,09( 26,546,76

All estimated reserves in this report are considlexe proved developed producing. Proved develgpeducing reserves are th
proved to a high degree of certainty by reasorctfad completion or successful testing. Estimafgsroved reserves were made using star
geological and engineering methods accepted byét®leum industry. The method, or combinationrethods, utilized was tempered
experience in the area, state of development, tyuatid extent of the basic data and productiorohistThese methods and procedures
appropriate for the purpose served by this reputvae have used all methods necessary under thentstances to prepare this report.

When the information was available and the methas wpplicable, oil and gas reserves in this repate estimated by t
extrapolation of historical trends of pressure ithechs a function of cumulative production, oil agab production decline as a function of 1
and oil and gas production decline as a functionushulative production. For certain wells havintinaited production history, reserves w
estimated by analogy with nearby similar wellshie same formation. All gas volumes are raw wetlhgas volumes expressed at 60 de(
Fahrenheit and at a standard pressure base of jdustels per square inch absolute.

Reserves in this report are expressed as grossetrmd and gas production. Net oil and gas prtidnaepresents those reserves n
the appraised interest after deducting all leagkhold royalty interests owned by others. Valueseskrves are expressed in terms o
operating revenues, cash flow before taxes, angeptavorth. Net operating revenue is revenue, lwhiculd accrue to the appraised intet
from the production and sale of the estimated estnves. Cash flow before taxes is obtained byated) severance and ad valorem taxes
operating expenses and capital costs from net tipgreevenue. Oil and gas prices, net operatingeeges and future capital costs v
furnished by Dorchester Minerals Operating LP.sBm worth is defined as the future cash flow befiaixes discounted at the rate of
(10.00) percent per year compounded annually. fr@ptrpose of this report no estimate was madelefge value for the existing lease
well equipment, or costs involved in abandonmernthefwells.

Due to inherent uncertainties in future productiates, commaodity prices and geologic conditions,rdserves included in this reg
are estimates only and should not be construectiag lexact quantities. The revenues from suchrveseand the actual costs related the
could be more or less than the estimated amouhtsstope of this investigation did not include amimnmental study of these properties,
was an orsite field inspection conducted. For the purpdsthis report, it was necessary to assume thaethegperties are in compliance v
existing government regulationBecause of governmental policies and uncertaifiesipply and demand, the prices actually recefeedthe
reserves included in this report, and the costsried in recovering suctreserves, may vary from price and cost assumptiotiss report. |
any case, estimates of reserves may increase wrasdecas a result of future operation and as mouption history becomes available. T}
are_no known pending regulations that would affect dbdity of Dorchester MineralsOperating LP to recover the estimated reservekis
report.
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The oil and gas prices included in this report wenevided by Dorchester Minerals Operating LP amdeaadjusted for BTU, fuel a
line losses as well as for local markets. The Hoggrices were determined as an unweighted ariibragerage of the Panhandle Eas
(Texas and Oklahoma) first day of the month priggrdy the twelve month period of 2012. The benatkngas price for the Hugoton opere
properties was $2.64 per MMBTU. The benchmarkgwifor the other NPI properties were determinednasnweighted arithmetic average
the NYMEX Henry Hub and West Texas Intermedi@ieshing first day of the month price during the ligemonth period of 2012. T
benchmark oil and gas prices for the NPI propestiese $94.71 per barrel and $2.76 per MMBTU, reSpely. The overall weighted avere
prices were $90.17 per barrel and $2.48 per MMBTU.

Calhoun, Blair & Associates have not examined ithe to these properties, nor has the actual degragpe of interest owned be
independently confirmed. We are independent patmolengineers; we do not own an interest in thespgrties and are not employed ¢
contingent basis. Basic field performance datattmyewith our engineering work sheets are mainthioe file in our office and are availa
for review. Calhoun Blair & Associates have med tlequirements regarding qualifications, independgnbjectivity, and confidentiality ¢
forth in the “Standards Pertaining to the Estimgtmd Auditing of Oil and Gas Reserves Informati@meVised February 2007) promulgatec
the Society of Petroleum Engineers.

Included in this report are summaries of gross @eidoil and gas reserves grouped by Hugoton NPpuBle NPI, Spinnaker NF
Maecenas NPI, Minerals NPI and Bradley NPI. Alsoluded are projections of estimated annual grossreet oil and gas production,
operating revenue, severance and ad valorem tagesperating expenses, net capital costs, cashld&dore taxes, and present worth fo
properties appraised as of January 1, 2013. Rreseth of future cash flow is not meant to repragbe Fair Market Value of these propet
or of Dorchester Minerals Operating LP.

Yours very truly,

Lot 6 Fa

Calhoun, Blair & Associate
Licensed Professional Engine
State of Texas #680¢
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January 17, 2013

Mr. Brad Ehrman
Dorchester Minerals, L.P.
3838 Oak Lawn, Suite 300
Dallas, Texas 75219-4541

Dear Mr. Ehrman:

At your request, LaRoche Petroleum Consultants, (HBC) has estimated the proved reserves andefwash flow, as of Deceml
31, 2012, to the Dorchester Minerals, L.P. (DMLBYyalty interest in certain properties located omshno the continental United States. 1
report was completed as of the date of this lefhis report was prepared to provide DMLP with S#ms and Exchange Commission (SI
compliant reserve estimates. It is our understapdhat the report comprises one-hundred (100%3eperof DMLPS royalty interests,
which ninetytwo percent (92%) were evaluated by LPC and eighitgnt (8%) by Calhoun Blair & Associates Inc. Wadidwe that th
assumptions, data, methods, and procedures ug@éparing this report, as set out below, are apatepfor the purpose of this report. T
report has been prepared using constant prices@std and conforms to our understanding of the §&@elines, reserves definitions, i
applicable financial accounting rules.

The Fayetteville Royalty properties (Group 22) wprejected by Calhoun Blair & Associates Inc. inllBs, Texas at the request
DMLP.

We note that we have necessarily included compg@sdgections of net oil and gas reserves for cerpabperties due to the limit
information available to DMLP as a royalty interestner and relatively small net reserves attriblatab any specific property within t
composite group.

Summarized below are LPEestimates of net reserves and future net cash fluture net revenue is prior to deducting estét
production and ad valorem taxes. Future net chsh i after deducting these taxes but before ctmmation of federal income taxes. -
discounted cash flow values included in this repogtintended to represent the time value of mamelyshould not be construed to represe
estimate of fair market value. We estimate therestrves and future net cash flow to the DMLPregt as of December 31, 2012, to be:

Net Reserves Future Net Cash Flow (M
Present
o]] Gas Equiv. NGL NetRevenu Net Taxes Worth at
Category (Mbbl) (MMcf) (MMcf) (M$) (M$) Total 10%

Proved Developed Producing 3,35( 31,53t 5,24t $ 406,06: $ 30,17« $ 375,88 $ 185,95:




The oil reserves include crude oil and condensadeaae expressed in thousands of barrels (Mbblictware equivalent to 42 Unit
States gallons/bbl. Gas reserves and equivaléntaigas liquids (NGL) are expressed in milliofist@andard cubic feet (MMcf) at the conti
temperature and pressure bases.

The estimated reserves and future cash flow showthis report are for proved developed producirggeinees. This report does
include any value that could be attributed to ie$¢s in undeveloped acreage.

The reserves in this report have been estimated witterministic methods. The method or combimatb methods utilized in tl
evaluation of each reservoir included consideratibthe stage of development of the reservoir, iguaind completeness of basic data,
production history. Recovery from various reserwaind leases was estimated after consideratiotheoftype of energy inherent in -
reservoirs, the structural positions of the prapsrtand reservoir and well performance. In somséances, comparisons were made to si
properties for which more complete data were ablilaWe have used all methods and proceduresatbatonsidered necessary under
circumstances to prepare this report. We haveudrd from our consideration all matters as to wiiehcontrolling interpretation may be le
or accounting rather than engineering or geoscience

The estimated reserves and future cash flow amountkis report are related to hydrocarbon pricdsstorical prices throug
December 2012 were used in the preparation ofréiiert as required by SEC guidelines; however,adtiure prices may vary significan
from the SEC prices. In addition, future changesnvironmental and administrative regulations reigypificantly affect the ability of DML
to produce oil and gas at the projected levelserdtore, volumes of reserves actually recoveredsamolunts of cash flow actually received 1
differ significantly from the estimated quantitigesented in this report.

Benchmark prices used in this report are basethemwelve-month unveighted arithmetic average of the first day of thenth prici
for the period January through December 2012. [fBases are referenced to a Henry Hub price of $p&t6MMBtu, as published in the Pl:
Gas Daily, and are adjusted for energy contemispartation fees, and regional price differentialsl prices are referenced to a West Tt
Intermediate (WTI) crude oil price of $94.71 perrehat Cushing Oklahoma and are adjusted for gragrude quality, transportation fees,
regional price differentials. NGLs are presented/cf-equivalent units; therefore prices are tied to ratgas prices. These benchmark pi
are held constant in accordance with SEC guidelifd® weighted average prices after adjustmengs the life of the properties are $91
per barrel for oil and $2.73 per Mcf for gas.

The interests evaluated in this report consistnty coyalty interests that are not burdened by afeg and capital costs.

LPC has made no investigation of possible gas veland value imbalances that may have resulted ftmmoverdelivery ¢
underdelivery to the DMLP interest. Our projectare based on the DMLP interest receiving itseatnue interest share of estimated ft
gross oil and gas production.

Technical information necessary for the preparatibthe reserve estimates herein was furnished Mi®or was obtained from st:
regulatory agencies and commercially available dataces. No special tests were obtained to assihe preparation of this report. For
purpose of this report, the individual well testdgroduction data as reported by the above souvees accepted as represented togethel
all other factual data presented by DMLP including extent and character of the interest evaluated.




An onsite inspection of the properties has not beenopaed nor has the mechanical operation or conditiothe wells and the
related facilities been examined by LPC.

The evaluation of potential environmental liabilftpm the operation and abandonment of the praggeit beyond the scope of |
report. In addition, no evaluation was made tedeine the degree of operator compliance with ciiremvironmental rules, regulations,
reporting requirements. Therefore, no estimatehef potential economic liability, if any, from emehmental concerns is included in
projections presented herein.

There are inherent uncertainties in the estimagioth projection of future reserves and revenue® r€kerves included in this ref
are estimates only and should not be construedat quantities. They may or may not be recovefagrovered, the revenues therefrom
the costs related thereto could be more or less tia estimated amounts. These estimates shoustdepted with the understanding
future development, production history, changegeigulations, product prices, and operating expemgmdd probably cause us to mi
revisions in subsequent evaluations. A portionttefse reserves are for producing wells that ladkicgnt production history to utiliz
performancea<elated reserve estimates. Therefore, these eseme based on estimates of reservoir volumesemdery efficiencies alol
with analogies to similar production. These reseegtimates are subject to a greater degree oftamtg than those based on substa
production and pressure data. It may be necessamyvise these estimates up or down in the fuasradditional performance data bec
available. As in all aspects of oil and gas euv#ma there are uncertainties inherent in the prigtation of engineering and geological ¢
therefore, our conclusions represent informed pifmal judgments only, not statements of fact.

The results of our thirgharty study were prepared in accordance with teela$ure requirements set forth in the SEC reguriatan:
intended for public disclosure as an exhibit imfjs made with the SEC by DMLP.

DMLP makes periodic filings on Form Hwith the SEC under the 1934 Exchange Act. Furtteee, DMLP has certain registrat
statements filed with the SEC under the 1933 SseesirAct into which any subsequently filed Form K@s incorporated by reference.
have consented to the incorporation by referenadénregistration statements on Form S-3 and Fo@®noSDMLP of the references to ¢
name as well as to the references to our third¢paqport for DMLP which appears in the December 112 annual report on Form X0-
and/or 10-K/A of DMLP. Our written consent for $ugse is included as a separate exhibit to thegilimade with the SEC by DMLP.

We have provided DMLP with a digital version of theginal signed copy of this report letter. Iretbvent there are any differen
between the digital version included in filings reday DMLP and the original signed report letteg triginal signed report letter shall con
and supersede the digital version.




The technical persons responsible for preparingé¢kerve estimates presented herein meet the eegents regarding qualificatiol
independence, objectivity, and confidentiality @th in the ‘Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Audithgil and Gas Reserv
Information” promulgated by the Society of Petroleum Engine@ise technical person primarily responsible forrgeeing the preparation
reserve estimates herein is Joe A. Young. Mr. Ygogra Professional Engineer licensed in the Sthieexas who has 31 years of enginee
experience in the oil and gas industry. Mr. Yousyned his Bachelor of Science degree in PetrolEngineering from Texas A&l
University and has prepared reserves estimatesisogmployers and his own companies throughoutdwiser. He has prepared and over
preparation of reports for public filings for LP@rfthe past 16 years. LPC is an independent fifrpetroleum engineers, geologists,
geophysicists; and are not employed on a continggsis. Data pertinent to this report are maiethion file in our office.

Very truly yours,

LaRoche Petroleum Consultants, Ltd.
State of Texas Registration Number F-1360

/sl Joe A. Young

Joe A. Young

Licensed Professional Engineer
State of Texas No. 62866

[sl Al lakovakis

Al lakovakis

Manager of Unconventional
Resources Evaluations
Senior Staff Engineer

AL:sw
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